### INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA TORC2 IN STRESS AND STRESS-INDUCED CHANGES IN OPIATE REWARD

By

Sophia Kaska

### A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Pharmacology and Toxicology-Environmental Toxicology-Doctor of Philosophy

#### ABSTRACT

### INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA TORC2 IN STRESS AND STRESS-INDUCED CHANGES IN OPIATE REWARD

By

### Sophia Kaska

Depression and opiate addiction are two prevalent neuropsychiatric diseases that produce a significant societal burden in terms of health and economic costs. Despite the substantial prevalence of depression and addiction both in the United States and worldwide, our understanding of the underlying neurobiological mechanisms remains incomplete, and elucidation of these neuroadaptations is necessary to develop more effective pharmacological therapies.

Depression and addiction are often co-morbid, suggesting that similar neuroadaptations may underlie both diseases. The ventral tegmental area (VTA) is an important brain region in the reward circuit with a well-established role in the effects of drugs of abuse and development of addiction. Interestingly, increasing evidence suggests that dysfunction of the reward pathway may also contribute to depression. Similar biochemical changes, specifically the phosphorylation of AKT, a serine/threonine kinase, at S473, occurs in the VTA in response to chronic social defeat stress (CSDS), a pre-clinical model of depression, and chronic morphine treatment. Importantly, manipulation of AKT S473 phosphorylation alters both depressive- and addictivelike behaviors. Thus, regulation of AKT S473 phosphorylation may be a critical determinant in the development of depression and addiction.

The protein complex responsible for phosphorylation of AKT S473 is mammalian (or mechanistic) Target of Rapamycin Complex 2 (TORC2). Previous work has demonstrated a critical role for VTA TORC2 in mediating morphine reward, but its role in stress had not been

examined. Thus, this dissertation investigated whether VTA TORC2 signaling mediated susceptibility to CSDS. Furthermore, it has been established that CSDS alters the rewarding effects of drugs of abuse, including morphine. Given that both CSDS and chronic morphine similarly decrease AKT S473 phosphorylation, these studies also determined whether TORC2 signaling was necessary for stress-induced changes in morphine reward. Finally, one mechanism by which TORC2 signaling is thought to mediate long-term adaptations underlying behavioral changes is the alteration of VTA DA neuronal morphology. Therefore, these studies also sought to determine whether TORC2 promotes cytoskeletal remodeling in the VTA via regulation of Rac1 signaling. Through viral and genetic manipulation of Rictor, an essential protein for TORC2 activity, this dissertation investigated the central hypothesis that *alteration of TORC2 signaling in the VTA contributes to changes in stress-induced morphine reward and CSDS susceptibility through modulation of specific downstream signaling molecules such as Rac1.* 

Overall, the results of these studies reveal novel information and significance regarding the physiological role of VTA TORC2. While decreased TORC2 signaling in the VTA, or dopamine neurons, is not sufficient to increase susceptibility to CSDS or stress-induced drug reward, we identified a novel role for VTA TORC2 signaling in general consummatory behavior. Moreover, the data from our studies suggest that catecholaminergic TORC2 signaling might regulate behavior in a sex-specific matter, presenting novel opportunities for future studies. Finally, these data indicate that VTA TORC2 does not alter Rac1-PAK-Cofilin signaling and thus, further studies are needed to elucidate the mechanism by which TORC2 facilitates morphine-induced changes in VTA DA morphology. To my family.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The past five years at Michigan State University have been an incredible journey that I could not have gone through alone. I have an army of mentors and friends, both professionally and personally, to thank for my development as a scientist.

First, I want to thank my advisor, Dr. Michelle Mazei-Robison. I know she wasn't expecting to take on a rotation student so soon after starting at MSU, especially one whose only knowledge of the brain is where it's located, but I'm glad she did. I really want to thank Michelle for taking a chance on me and allowing me to join her lab. It has been quite an adventure for both of us. Her passion for research and ability to juggle endless amounts of responsibility has been truly motivating and inspiring. She really cares about her students and somehow always seems to make sure that we're her top priority (well, at least it feels like that.) I'm also very thankful for Michelle's patience with me throughout the past four years to help guide me into the scientist that I am.

I would also like to like to whole-heartedly thank my dissertation committee for their guidance and support throughout the years. Dr. Jim Galligan, Dr. Bryan Copple, and Dr. Colleen Hegg always asked thought-provoking questions and provided insightful feedback at my committee meetings. They have also helped me think about my projects from different perspectives and think critically about my research.

The Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology at MSU has provided me with an incredible amount of support and such an enriching environment to help with my development as a scientist. Thank you to all to of the faculty, students, and staff that I've had the privilege of

v

getting to know throughout the years. Diane, Michelle, Becky, Steve, Beverly, Brad, and Julie have been a joy to work with and I'd like to thank them for all of their help to make this process as stress-free as possible. I would also especially like to thank Dr. Anne Dorrance for her support as our Graduate Program Director. She was always my go-to person whenever I had questions, problems, needed someone to talk things through, or just needed a place to cry. I will miss all of the social events the department hosts each year. The holiday parties, chili cook-offs, picnics, speed data seminars, and much needed happy hours all produced wonderful memories that I will leave with.

The Environmental and Integrative Toxicological Sciences program and Institute for Integrative Toxicology have been enormously supportive of my training and development as a graduate student. Thank you to the staff members of EITS and the IIT for all of their help throughout my career at MSU. I also have really appreciated the opportunities to present my research each year at the Research Evenings, the opportunities to bring in guest speakers through the EITS seminar series, and the travel awards to attend various meetings throughout the years. I have gotten to know a number of faculty and students through this program and will miss everyone and these opportunities.

Most of my graduate career has been supported by funding opportunities outside of the laboratory, for which I am very grateful for. First, I'd like to thank the BioMolecular Sciences program at MSU for their support for my first year of graduate school while I took classes and went through my research rotations. I would also like to thank the Integrative Pharmacological Sciences Training Program at MSU for their training and support. This opportunity provided me with the guidance that I needed to apply for my own fellowship funding. Lastly, I would like to thank the PhRMA Foundation for giving me the opportunity to be supported by the

vi

Pharmacology/Toxicology Pre-Doctoral Fellowship. The independence that comes with having my own funding source allowed me to focus on my research and training as a scientist, which was especially important as I was finishing up the last part of my graduate career.

The pharmacology training and support I have received through the American Society of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics (ASPET) has been a magnificent part of my graduate career. I am very thankful for all of the professional and networking opportunities ASPET has given me. From being awarded a travel award for my first ASPET meeting as a graduate student, to participating in the Mentoring Network, Young Scientist Committee, and Washington Fellows program, I have gained invaluable experiences and have met countless mentors and staff members who have been nothing but supportive in my graduate career.

Even though he has already been mentioned once, I would like to thank Dr. Bryan Copple, again, for his support throughout the years. The experience I gained as a Research Assistant in Bryan's lab helped me solidify my decision to pursue a graduate degree. From working on a number of projects in the lab, going to departmental seminars, to attending a national meeting, I was able to thoroughly explore the field of pharmacology. Those experiences helped me realize that pharmacology is a field that I truly enjoy. I can't thank Bryan enough for the opportunities he gave me in his lab, for all of the recommendation letters he has written me for both graduate school and for fellowships I applied for in graduate school, for his guidance as one of my committee members and also as one of my professors, and for the basketball bantering. (I will always argue that the Jayhawks are better at basketball than the Spartans.) In all seriousness, I have to thank Bryan for his guidance and support in helping me begin my career.

vii

Finding a balance between school and having a life outside of school was always a struggle for me. It was not until I became part of a supportive fitness family at CrossFit Facta that I truly learned how to make myself a priority. Without the support of the coaches and fellow athletes at Facta, I don't know how I would have gotten through my last year of graduate school. They have been my cheerleaders both inside and outside of the box. Thank you for all of the constant reminders to take care of myself throughout this process. I will miss the Saturday morning workouts and hero WODs that I've been fortunate enough to do with my Facta Family. I'd especially like to thank Mike Romigh, Dan Romigh, Kathleeen Louis, Kathi and Skip Shipley, Eric Ozanich, and Jamie Latimer for their support, positivity, and words of encouragement, both related to CrossFit and regarding my studies as well.

Throughout my time at MSU, I've also been fortunate enough to build an amazing network of friends that have gotten me through the roller coaster ride of graduate school. I have had two exceptional lab mates who I consider to be wonderful friends. Thank you to Marie Doyle and Vedrana Bali for being wonderful co-workers and friends. I'm glad I have friends who understood and shared my love of coffee, macaroons, and El Oasis burritos. They would take time out their busy schedules to sneak out with me for coffee and snacks to celebrate even the smallest accomplishments. I also value the friendship of Alison Singer, with whom I knew I could always grab coffee with for off-campus work dates and who would happily share her two adorable dogs with me since I don't have any pets of my own. I also could not have imagined getting through graduate school without the support of the women who started this program with me. From studying together for class, helping each other prepare for our comprehensive exams, complaining about and troubleshooting experiments, to rooming together for conferences, and

viii

exploring new cities during our down time at meetings, I will be forever grateful to have the friendships of Isola Brown, Brittany Winner, Juliette Brown, and Teri Lansdell.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their endless support and love. From helping me move to Michigan from Kansas to always making sure I enjoy my time at home over the holidays, they have gone above and beyond to do what they can to help me succeed.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
CHAPTER 1- Introduction	1
Prevalence and costs of addiction and depression	2
Comorbidity of depression and addiction	3
Biological bases of depression	4
Pharmacological treatment of depression	7
Physiological changes of the brain in depression	9
Animal models of depression	10
Ventral tegmental area and CSDS	12
Addiction	15
Opioid pharmacology	17
Animal models of addiction	18
Neuroadaptations induced by chronic opiate exposure	20
Molecular mechanisms underlying behavioral and morphological changes in	
response to stress and opiates	22
TOR and its complexes: TORC1 and TORC2	22
Actin cytoskeleton remodeling and Rho GTPase signaling	
Conclusion	33
REFERENCES	36
CHAPTER 2- Deletion of Rictor in Catecholaminergic Neurons Alters Locomot	or
Activity and Ingestive Behavior	
Abstract	49
Introduction	50
Materials and Methods	52
Mice	52
Drugs	52
Viral-mediated gene transfer	53
Validation of Rictor deletion	53
Viral targeting	53
Quantitative Real-Time (RT)-PCR	53
Chronic social defeat stress (CSDS)	54
Behavioral overview	54
Social interaction	54
Open Field	55
Elevated plus maze	55
Two bottle choice voluntary intake	55

Statistics	55
Results	57
TH-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit baseline differences in anxiety- and	l
depressive-like behavior	57
TH-Rictor-KO mice have higher levels of voluntary fluid intake	61
VTA-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit any differences in baseline behav	iors63
VTA-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit any differences in voluntary fluid	
intake	66
TH-Rictor-KO mice are not more susceptible to physical or emotional	
CSDS	66
VTA Rictor-KO mice are not more susceptible to physical CSDS	68
Physical CSDS increases voluntary fluid intake of TH-Rictor-KO and	
VTA-Rictor-KO mice	68
Discussion	72
Acknowledgements, Funding, and Disclosure	79
REFERENCES	80
CHAPTER 3- TORC2 Does Not Regulate Cytoskeletal Changes in the VTA Three	ough
Rac1-mediated Signaling	84
Abstract	85
Introduction	86
Materials and Methods	89
Mice	89
Morphine	89
Viral-mediated gene transfer	90
Western blot	90
Rac1 GTPase Assay	92
Statistics	
Results	93
Chronic morphine does not alter Rac1 signaling in the VTA	93
Chronic morphine does not alter Rac1 activity in the VTA	
Knockdown of TORC2 signaling in the VTA does not alter Rac1	
signaling	98
Overexpression of HSV-Rictor in the VTA	101
Discussion	103
Acknowledgements, Funding, and Disclosure	106
REFERENCES	107
CHAPTER 4- Significance, Summary, and Future Directions	
Significance of dissertation	112
Summary of findings	113
Susceptibility to CSDS and stress-induced morphine reward	113
Novel role of VTA TORC2 signaling	115
Modulation of actin cytoskeleton in $VTA$ by TORC?	110
Future directions	122
Investigating VTA TORC2 function in consummatory behaviors	122
my ougaing y 111 1 Orce renewon in consummatory concertors	•••••

Identifyir	ing novel targets of VTA TORC2 in mediating ac	tin cytoskeleton
changes		
<b>REFERENCES</b> .		

# LIST OF TABLES

**Table 1:** List of antibodies used, product information, and usage information.
 91

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The reward pathway   14
<b>Figure 2</b> : TORC2 vs. TORC1
<b>Figure 3</b> : Proposed mechanism by which TORC2 alters the actin cytoskeleton
<b>Figure 4</b> : Evaluation of anxiety-like baseline behaviors in stress naïve TH-Rictor-KO mice
Figure 5: Evaluation of depressive-related behaviors in stress naïve TH-Rictor-KO mice.60
Figure 6: Evaluation of water and morphine consumption in stress naïve TH-Cre mice62
Figure 7: Evaluation of baseline behaviors in stress-naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice64
Figure 8: Evaluation of depressive-related behaviors in stress naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice
<b>Figure 9</b> : Evaluation of water and morphine consumption in stress naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice
<b>Figure 10</b> : Evaluation of susceptibility of TH-Rictor-KO mice to physical and emotional CSDS and post-stress consumption of water, sucrose, and morphine solutions69
<b>Figure 11</b> : Evaluation of susceptibility of AAV-Rictor-KO mice to physical CSDS and post-stress consumption of water, sucrose, and morphine solutions70
<b>Figure 12</b> : Evaluation of Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway proteins in the VTA after chronic morphine treatment
Figure 13: Evaluation of TORC2-related proteins in the VTA after chronic morphine treatment
Figure 14: VTA Rac1 GTPase activity was not altered by chronic morphine treatment97
Figure 15: Evaluation of Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway proteins in the VTA after viral knockdown of Rictor
Figure 16: Evaluation of TORC2-related proteins in the VTA after viral knockdown of Rictor
Figure 17: Novel role for VTA TORC2 in mediating consummatory behaviors118

Figure 18: VTA TORC2 does not modulate the actin cytoskeleton through	ugh a
Rac1-dependent manner	

# **KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS**

AAV	Adeno-associated virus
ABP	Actin-binding proteins
ACTH	Adrenocorticotrophic hormone
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AGC	Named after cAMP-dependent protein kinase 1, cGMP-dependent protein kinase, and protein kinase C
AKT	Thymoma viral proto-oncogene
AMPH	Amphetamine
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
CMS	Chronic mild stress
CON	Control
СРР	Conditioned place preference
CRE	Cre recombinase

CRF	Corticotrophin-releasing factor
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CSDS	Chronic social defeat stress
CUMS	Chronic unpredictable mild stress
CUS	Chronic unpredictable stress
DA	Dopamine
DAT	Dopamine transporter
DEPTOR	DEP domain containing mTOR-interacting protein
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSM-V	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual-V
EPM	Elevated plus maze
ERK1,2	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1,2
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
FST	Forced swim test
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GAP-43	Growth-associated protein-43

GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GEF	Guanine exchange factor
GFP	Green fluorescence protein
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta
HET	Heterozygous
HFD	High-fat diet
НОМО	Homozygous
HPA	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
IRS2	Insulin receptor substrate 2
КО	Knockout
LHPP	phospholysine phosphohistidine inorganic pyrophosphate phosphatase
LIMK	LIM kinase
LTM	Long-term memory
MAOI	Monoamine oxidase inhibitor
MARCKS	Myristolyated alanine-rich protein kinase C substrate

MDD	Major depressive disorder
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
mLST8	Mammaliam lethal with sec-13 protein 8
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mTOR	Mammalian/mechanistic Target of rapamycin
mTORC1	Mammalian/mechanistic Target of rapamycin complex 1
mTORC2	Mammalian/mechanistic Target of rapamycin complex 2
NAc	Nucleus accumbens
NE	Norepinephrine
NET	Norepinephrine transporter
NDRI	Norephinephrine/dopamine reuptake inhibitor
NDRG	N-myc downstream regulated gene
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
OF	Open field
РАК	p21-activated kinase
PAG	Periaqueductal grey
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline

PFC	Prefrontal cortex
РКС	Protein kinase C
PRAS40	Proline-rich AKT substrate 40 kDa
PVN	Paraventricular nucleus
Raptor	Regulatory-associated protein of mammalian target of rapamycin
Rictor	Rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
ROCK	Rho-associated protein kinase
SI	Social interaction
SIRT1	Sirtuin
SGK	Serum- and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase
SNRI	Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor
SSRI	Serotonin-specific (or selective serotonin) reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
TESK	Testis-specific kinase

TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TORC2	Target of rapamycin complex 2
TST	Tail suspension test
VGAT	Vesicular GABA transporter
VGLUT	Vesicular glutamate transporter
VTA	Ventral tegmental area

# **CHAPTER 1**

## Introduction

### Prevalence and costs of addiction and depression

Depression and drug addiction are two common neuropsychiatric diseases that pose a significant health and economic burden on society, as well as a considerable emotional cost for both patients and their families. Depression, also known as major depressive disorder (MDD), is a prevalent mood disorder characterized by persistent sadness lasting at least two weeks or more [1] and affects more than 300 million people worldwide [2]. Drug addiction, on the other hand, is a neurobiological disease characterized by continued drug seeking behavior and compulsive drug use despite adverse consequences [3]. While drug abuse and depression are prevalent individually, the diseases are also highly co-morbid, meaning a subset of patients are diagnosed with both disorders. Importantly, suffering from drug addiction does not dictate that one will also be diagnosed with depression, but it does increase the chance of being diagnosed with depression. In fact, being diagnosed with a substance use disorder increases one's chances for developing depression by a factor of 4.7 [4]. In 2012, 20.7 million adults were diagnosed with a substance use disorder and of those, 8.4 million, or approximately 40% were also diagnosed with a mental illness [5]. Similarly, illicit drug use is significantly higher in those who have experienced a major depressive episode in the past year compared to those who did not have a major depressive episode [5]. Of the 8.4 million patients who are diagnosed with this comorbidity, 4.3% receive treatment for their substance use disorder, 34% receive mental health treatment and only 7.9% receive treatment for both their mental health and substance use disorders [5]. This means that over half of the 8.4 million patients don't receive any treatment and emphasizes the critical need for efficacious therapies for these disorders. Currently, depression and addiction also exert a significant financial toll in the United States, with estimated costs of \$83.1 billion for depression [6] and \$193 billion on issues related to illicit

drug use [7]. Opiate usage, especially in the United States, has been on the rise, as Americans use 80% of opioid drugs worldwide, and 99% of the world's hydrocodone supply [8]. The costs of these disorders are high, which is partly due to their high prevalence, but is also because they are chronic disorders without cures. While current therapies help manage symptoms in some patients, a large number of patients are refractive to current treatments. Thus, there is a critical need for improved therapies for depression and addiction. To improve treatment, we need a better understanding of the neuroadaptations underlying these disorders, including whether there are common molecular mechanisms that contribute to the development of both addiction and depression, as these might serve as especially valuable targets for therapeutic intervention.

### Comorbidity of depression and addiction

There are a range of diseases that are comorbid with depression that vary from neuropsychiatric disorders such as anxiety, substance abuse, to neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's, to diseases that are not necessarily connected to the central nervous system such as cancer. It is suggested that the comorbidity of depression and substance abuse could be due to the overlap of etiological factors such as stress and the alteration of neuronal signaling [9]. Stress is an important, well-established environmental factor in the development of addiction. Traumatic incidents, deaths of loved ones, and interpersonal conflicts are just a few examples of stressors that can increase a person's vulnerability to substance abuse. This is also true of early life stress, as physical abuse, emotional abuse, divorce of parents, or loss of a parent can increase a child or adolescent's vulnerability to drug abuse [10]. Importantly, stressful life experiences also increase the likelihood of developing depression. For example, emotional stress and abuse at an early age can sensitize individuals to stressful situations in adulthood. As a result, these individuals tend to experience more symptoms of depression when confronted with a life stressor

compared to those who were initially categorized as having low levels of childhood emotional abuse [11]. Critically, animal models of depression have been used to investigate stress effects in the central nervous system. Chronic stress, for instance, is used to induce a depressive-like state (described in detail in **Animal models of depression** below) and these models also induce alterations in drug reward and drug reinstatement, addictive-like phenotypes, suggesting a common link between the two disorders [12].

### **Biological bases of depression**

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-V) of Mental Disorders defines a major depressive disorder as having five or more of the following symptoms on a nearly daily basis for at least two weeks: depressed mood or feelings of sadness or emptiness, loss of interest in activities that were once pleasurable, weight loss or weight gain of more than 5% of body weight or a change in appetite, insomnia or hypersomnia, changes in activity such as psychomotor agitation or retardation, fatigue, feelings of worthlessness, inability to concentrate or think, and thoughts of suicide or an attempt at suicide [13]. Importantly, depression is diagnosed by a health care provider such as a psychologist or psychiatrist, who helps determine the best course of treatment for the patient.

Understanding how depression develops can be helpful for the course of treatment. While the exact cause of depression is unknown, it is suspected to be due to a combination of biological and environmental factors. Epidemiological studies of twins and families indicate that depression is heritable [14, 15]. By performing a meta-analysis on both adoption and twin studies of depression, the likelihood for heritability was determined to be 31-42%, with environmental factors having a smaller influence (5%) [15]. Despite the observed heritability of depression,

there are no common genetic variants linked to the development of depression. A number of studies have attempted to associate polymorphisms in candidate genes to depression, but have failed to identify a direct cause-and-effect relationship [16]. However, recently, two loci located on chromosome 10 near the sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) and phospholysine phosphohistidine inorganic pyrophosphate phosphatase (LHPP) genes, were identified through whole-genome sequencing as risk factors for depression [17]. In this study, over 11,000 Han Chinese women were studied from 58 hospitals in China in which only women with repeated cases of depression were examined. This study is unique because it identifies polymorphisms in a specific population of patients, contrary to the belief that depression develops from overlapping disorders and from environmental factors. These chromosomal variants were found to be rarer in European cohorts, highlighting a caveat of the study, as a population with a similar genetic background would increase the likelihood of finding significant genetic effects. However, it could also suggest potential susceptibility to depression based upon one's racial background. The study could also be expanded to explore multiple subtypes of depression to more accurately search for genetic variants. Interestingly, work from animal models is consistent with changes in SIRT function contributing to depression, as alteration of SIRT expression increased susceptibility to social defeat stress [18]. Overall, while there is clear evidence that depression is heritable, little is known about the genetic variation that contributes to the phenotype, thus depression is likely to continue to be the subject of large whole genome sequencing studies.

Environmental stress has been linked to the development of depression, suggesting that the body's ability to handle stress through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis could play a role. The HPA axis utilizes hormones induced by stress to communicate between the hypothalamus, pituitary gland, and adrenal gland. Stress induces the release of corticotrophin-

releasing factor (CRF) from the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus. This causes the pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) and ultimately leads to the secretion of the stress hormones known as glucocorticoids (e.g. cortisol in humans or corticosterone in mice) [19, 20]. Glucocorticoids can then bind to glucocorticoid and mineral corticoid receptors, throughout the body to initiate responses to stress. Importantly, the HPA axis has feedback mechanisms for tight regulation of glucocorticoid action. The PVN contains glucocorticoid receptors that respond to circulating levels of glucocorticoids by decreasing neuronal activity and subsequently decrease ACTH release from the pituitary gland [19]. Depressed patients have significantly increased cerebral spinal fluid CRF compared to controls, suggesting dysfunction of the HPA axis in depressed patients [21]. Interestingly, early life stress alters the stress response within the HPA axis. A small study followed young children who were exposed to maternal stress, which consisted of stressors such as having depression symptoms, parenting stress, and financial stress. These children had the tendency to have increased cortisol levels compared to children who were not exposed to early life maternal stressors. Importantly, those children exhibited abnormal internalization behaviors in their transition into a school setting [22], which provides evidence for stress being able to negatively alter HPA function. Larger studies and meta-analyses should be performed to strengthen the clinical data and to further investigate how early life stress can alter stress responses. In agreeance with clinical findings, rodent models find that reduced maternal care results in elevated stress hormones such as ACTH and corticosterone following an acute stress in adulthood [23]. These data suggest that early life stress produces long-lasting changes in the responsiveness of the HPA axis that could increase susceptibility to develop depression. This is supported by data in the human literature where a number of studies have reported an increase in HPA axis activity in those who have undergone early life stress [20]. Overall, these findings highlight how various external factors can alter the stress responses and demonstrate the importance of the HPA axis in mediating these hormonal and behavioral changes.

In addition to environmental factors, there are also several biological factors that can influence the development of depression and other related mood disorders. One of these factors involves changes in brain chemistry. In the 1950's, study of the drug reserpine, which depleted monoamines from the brain and led to feelings of depression, led to the formation of what is currently known as the "monoamine hypothesis" [24]. In this hypothesis, depression is the result of monoamine depletion. Monoamines include both catecholamines (dopamine, norepinephrine) and tryptamines (serotonin), that act as neurotransmitters in the central and peripheral nervous systems to perpetuate a number of physiological tasks such as motor function, reward, and cardiac function [25]. Given the role of these neurotransmitters in the monoamine hypothesis, the next logical step to treating depression would be to restore these neurotransmitters to normal levels.

### Pharmacological treatment of depression

Utilizing the idea of restoring monoamine levels back to normal in the synapse to treat depression, the overarching mechanism of action of antidepressants is to increase the presence of monoamines available for neurotransmission [26]. Monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs) were first discovered in the 1950's for the treatment of depression [27]. MAOIs function by preventing monoamine oxidase from degrading monoamines, which increases the availability of monoamines in the synapse [1]. Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) are another class of antidepressant compounds and they inhibit neurotransmitter reuptake, which also increases

monoamine availability [28]. Due to their narrow therapeutic window and their nonselective nature, TCAs also produce unwanted side effects [27]. Thus, TCAs are not commonly used for treating depression. Newer classes of antidepressants have more tolerable side effects, and are therefore more promising for chronic use. Serotonin-specific (or selective serotonin) reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) were developed in the 1970's with the goal of reducing adverse effects by targeting specific proteins [27]. As the name implies, SSRIs block serotonin transporter function to prevent the reuptake of serotonin and thereby prolong serotonin binding to receptors on the postsynaptic neuron. While SSRIs are widely prescribed for the treatment of depression, some of the side effects can make the drug less tolerable to patients, such as sexual dysfunction, weight gain, and altered sleep [26]. However, they are still favored over TCAs since SSRIs are less likely to cause seizures [29]. Even with the unwanted side effects, TCAs and SSRIs have been found to be more effective compared to other classes of antidepressants [30]. Other classes of antidepressants target combinations of monoamine to help ameliorate symptoms of depression. For instance, serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) were developed to target serotonin and norepinephrine transporters and norepinephrine/dopamine reuptake inhibitors (NDRIs) target NET and DAT [26], to block reuptake of their corresponding neurotransmitters and prolong their signaling in the synapse. While traditional antidepressants require a patient to be on these drugs for several weeks to see therapeutic effects, another drug, ketamine, is undergoing large-scale clinical trials [31] as a fast-acting treatment for depression. Ketamine is a dissociative anesthetic drug that antagonizes the NMDA receptor [32] to stop neuronal communication. Several clinical trials have demonstrated the rapid effects of one dose of ketamine treatment for depression, but few have been able to demonstrate long-lasting effects. A consensus statement released by physicians in the Journal of the American Medical Association

suggests that if ketamine is to be used to treat depression, that the patient remain under vigilant care of the physician to avoid potential side effects such as cognitive impairment and drug abuse [33]. Overall, failure of these antidepressants to treat a significant fraction of depressed patients, combined with the development of therapeutics such as ketamine that rely on a different mechanism of action, suggest that monoamine dysregulation is not the sole cause of depression.

#### Physiological changes of the brain in depression

It is important to understand the physiology of the brain structures affected by depression in order to find more effective therapies to help manage this neuropsychiatric disease. A number of critical brain regions have been studied in humans using non-invasive techniques. For instance, the left nucleus accumbens (NAc), a structure involved in mediating natural and drug reward, was found to be less active in depressed patients compared to non-depressed controls, through functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) [34]. Another study measured the blood flow in the left prefrontal cortex (PFC) and amygdala of depressed patients. The authors found that both the left PFC and amygdala of depressed patients had increased activity compared to controls. Furthermore, even after remission, the patients that had been diagnosed with depression still had increased amygdala activity [35], emphasizing the long-lasting effect of depression. Activity of key brain regions is not the only aspect of the brain that is altered by depression. Importantly, correlative studies in humans have looked at brain region size and the diagnosis of depression. Further investigation of the amygdala, a region known for processing emotions, revealed amygdala size in decreased in depressed females but not males [36]. In this same study, no significant changes in PFC or hippocampus volume were observed in either sex [36], but other studies have observed differences. For instance, one study reported a decrease in hippocampal volume in depressed patients through MRI [37]. Even though there are conflicting

data reported for brain region volume or size changes in depressed subjects, these findings are of importance and should be further investigated, as differences could be explained by variables such as age, severity of depression, potential influence of antidepressants, and gender. Collectively, these examples illuminate the numerous neuroadaptations that occur in human brains and demonstrate the need for further characterization.

#### Animal models of depression

The previous section illustrates that while some risk factors for depression have been identified, such as in alterations of monoaminergic signaling and HPA function, much remains unknown about external contributions to the development of this neuropsychiatric disease. Moreover, teasing apart how these changes produce depressive-like behaviors is difficult in clinical populations. Thus, animal models of depression are necessary to advance the understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying this disease. Animal models do have limitations. For example, emotions such as sadness cannot be quantified in animals in a manner analogous to humans. However, animal models of depression have been developed that have both face validity, in which behavioral changes resemble depressive-like symptoms, and pharmacological validity, in which the behavioral response responds to antidepressants [38]. For example, the forced swim test (FST) and tail suspension test (TST), both have pharmacological validity. Specifically, drugs that have antidepressant actions in humans will increase the time animals spend struggling in the FST and TST, which both measure helplessness. Thus, these measures serve as good predictive tools for drugs with antidepressant qualities, but are not models of depression per se since they do not induce depressive-like symptoms [39]. To generate animal models of depression that recapitulate behaviors analogous to human symptoms such as

anhedonia or altered circadian rhythm, i.e. face validity, and pharmacological validity, investigators often use some form of chronic stress exposure.

The chronic mild stress (CMS) (also referred to as chronic unpredictable stress (CUS), or chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS) [40]) paradigm utilizes daily exposure to a mild stress for a varied period of time, usually for 2-4 weeks. A variety of stressors can be used; food depravation, water depravation, altered light cycle, cage tilting, or housing in a soiled (wet) cage are some common examples [41]. Chronic exposure to these mild stressors is sufficient to induce anhedonia, as measured by decreased consumption of sucrose-sweetened water, [41] and treatment with chronic antidepressants restores sucrose preference to normal levels [42]. Moreover, chronic mild stress also induces altered sleep patterns in rodents [43]. Physiological changes are also induced in rodents in CMS that are similar to humans, such as a decrease in hippocampal volume [44] and an increase in the stress hormone, corticosterone [45]. The caveat with CMS is that the stressors used are not ethologically valid. This is because mice do not normally experience soiled bedding or cage tilting. While this model does provide a means for collecting critical information regarding stress and allows for the evaluation of stress in both sexes, there still remains some concern regarding the degree by which the information gained can translate to humans.

To address the caveat of ethological validity, a paradigm that utilizes social subordination, a more ethologically relevant stress, can be utilized. This model is called chronic social defeat stress (CSDS). In mouse CSDS, an experimental mouse is subjected to a daily physical encounter with a large, aggressive, territorial mouse [46, 47]. CSDS is sufficient to induce depressive-like symptoms such as anhedonia and social avoidance [47], similar to symptoms expressed by humans. Importantly, CSDS has pharmacological validity, meaning that

chronic, but not acute, treatment with SSRIs will reverse the depression-like phenotype [46]. This model displays phenotypic heterogeneity; meaning that like humans, not all mice that undergo this stress will display depressive-like symptoms. The mice in this model are classified as either susceptible or resilient based upon their stress-induced behavioral phenotype, such as the degree to which they are willing to socially interact with a novel mouse [46]. Additionally, similar to humans, this alteration in social interaction is long-lasting. Identification of the molecular mechanisms underlying both susceptibility and resilience to CSDS are the topic of many current studies. For example, early studies described increases in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), as well as phosphorylation of downstream targets such as AKT, GSK-3 $\beta$ , and ERK1,2 in the nucleus accumbens of susceptible mice [47]. In fact, a variety of studies have indicated that dysregulation of the brain reward circuit, and more specifically the ventral tegmental area (VTA), plays a critical role in the development of depressive-like behaviors following CSDS [47-49].

### Ventral tegmental area and CSDS

Activity of the ventral tegmental area, a critical component of the mesocorticolimbic pathway, serves to mediate the rewarding aspects of drugs of abuse such as morphine and cocaine, in addition to natural rewards such as food and sex [50, 51]. The VTA is a heterogeneous region comprised of dopaminergic (~70%), GABAergic (~30%), and glutamatergic (~2-3%) neurons [52, 53]. Dopamine neurons (DA) are identified by their expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate limiting enzyme of dopamine synthesis [54]. The VTA sends many projections to other brain regions to mediate various behaviors. For instance, the lateral VTA DA neurons that project to the lateral shell of the nucleus accumbens (NAc) mediate reward [54, 55] (Figure 1). Medial VTA DA neurons, on the other hand, project

to the prefrontal cortex to mediate aversive responses [55] (Figure 1). Outside of the reward circuit, VTA DA neurons also project to other regions such as the amygdala, hippocampus, ventral pallidum, periaqueductal grey, and locus coeruleus [54]. The input onto VTA DA neurons is also very diverse. For example, stimulation of glutamatergic and cholinergic inputs from the laterodorsal tegmentum to the lateral VTA increases dopaminergic output to the lateral shell of the nucleus accumbens to increase reward [55]. Aversion, on the other hand, is largely mediated by glutamatergic input from the lateral habenula onto the rostromedial tegmental nucleus, to inhibit the lateral and medial VTA [55]. In addition, GABAergic neurons from the lateral hypothalamus also project to the VTA and serve to disinhibit VTA DA neurons by synapsing onto VTA GABAergic interneurons in motivated behaviors [56]. Overall, the inputs and outputs to and from the VTA are very complex and understanding their physiological roles will help with elucidating the dysfunctional pathways involved in the development of depression.



**Figure 1: The reward pathway.** Ventral tegmental area (VTA) dopamine neurons project to the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and prefrontal cortex (PFC). The VTA is largely composed of dopamine and GABAergic neurons. VTA GABAergic neurons synapse onto dopamine neurons, thereby influencing VTA dopamine neuron excitability and dopamine output to structures such as the NAc and PFC.

The aforementioned pathways, such as the projections from the VTA to NAc to mediate reward, can be altered in neuropsychiatric diseases like addiction and depression. Animal models of depression have been used to identify neuroadaptations that occur in these pathways. For example, CSDS induces changes in the VTA in both susceptible and resilient mice. Susceptible mice have a significant increase in neuronal firing compared to non-stressed controls and resilient mice [47]. Further electrophysiological studies revealed that resilient mice actually have a greater increase in VTA DA neuronal firing through the upregulation of an excitatory current [49]. Results from a DNA microarray found that resilient mice have an increase in potassium channel gene expression [47], which indeed, led to an increase in VTA DA potassium channel current in resilient mice [49]. Furthermore, when potassium channel openers are infused into the VTA of susceptible mice from CSDS, their depressive-like phenotypes are reversed [57]. Together, these studies reveal that CSDS induces neuroadaptations in all mice that go through physical stress. Importantly, the resilient mice have a compensatory mechanism to counter the increase in VTA DA firing. In addition to electrophysiological changes, biochemical changes are also induced in the VTA after CSDS. Because there was also an increase in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) release in the nucleus accumbens [47], one of the subsequent studies also investigated neurotrophic factor signaling in the VTA. Interestingly, the phosphorylation of AKT, a protein downstream of BDNF, was decreased in susceptible mice but not in resilient mice [48]. Overall, these results present a strong role for the VTA in the pathogenesis of depression in CSDS and necessitate further investigation.

### Addiction

In addition to depression, the VTA also plays a critical role in addiction, as it mediates the rewarding responses to drugs of abuse [58]. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-V)
of Mental Disorders defines addiction as having constant drug-seeking behavior combined with the lack of control to regulate drug intake in order to avoid withdrawal [13]. Drugs with abuse liability issues all increase dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens to produce the "high" that drug users feel [59]. This is typically achieved by increasing dopamine release from the ventral tegmental area neurons that project to the nucleus accumbens or by blocking dopamine transporters in the nucleus accumbens to prevent reuptake of dopamine. The exact causes of drug addiction remain largely undefined. This is due to a number of reasons, such as the number of drugs of abuse available, their varying mechanisms of action, and different factors that contribute to the addictive phenotype. Furthermore, this can be complicated by poly-drug use, the use of multiple drugs of abuse [60]. Importantly, one time exposure to a drug does not necessarily lead to addiction, nor does repeated use. In addition, genetics may play an important role in determining susceptibility to addiction, as it is estimated that genetics contribute to 40-60% of addiction-related vulnerabilities [3]. Lastly, the different stages of drug abuse, such as initial exposure to drug, changes in response that lead to tolerance and sensitization, progression, and withdrawal can also be affected by genetic variability in one or a combination of genes [61].

Due to the complexity of addiction, there are challenges presented in finding treatments for addiction. Some of these challenges are not even related to the neurobiology of the disease. For instance, the pharmaceutical industry is often responsible for driving the market with the types of drugs produced and sold on the market. Out of fear of a potentially low return on investment and small target populations, the pharmaceutical industry lacks interest on finding treatments for substance use disorders [62]. Combined with the lack of understanding on the neuroadaptations induced by drugs of abuse and continued research on the mechanisms of action of each drug of abuse, the ability to find effective pharmacological treatments is difficult and

highlights the need for furthering our knowledge on the molecular changes that occur in addiction, and also to increase the incentive for pharmaceutical companies to drive interest in developing life-saving therapies.

#### **Opioid pharmacology**

With the prescription of opioids rapidly increasing by 402% from 1997 to 2007 [8], it is important to understand their mechanism of action in order to understand how opioid addiction begins. Opioids are a class of analgesic drugs that provide pain relief through their interaction with opioid receptors [63-65]. Opiates were initially derived from the opium poppy and have been used for pain management for centuries. Interestingly, the active compound from the opium poppy, morphine, was isolated in 1806 by Sertürner, and has been used since then. Research on opioids, including the synthesis of agonists and antagonists of the opioid receptors accelerated in the 20<sup>th</sup> century [66]. Examples of opioids that have been used for pain management include morphine, oxycodone, codeine, and hydrocodone [67]. In order to function as analgesics, opioids act as agonists of opioid receptors, in which there are three types:  $\mu$ ,  $\kappa$ , and  $\delta$ . All opioid receptors are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). Specifically, activation of the µ-opioid receptors produces two general signaling effects. First, G-protein signaling through G<sub>i</sub> or G<sub>o</sub> Gproteins produces analgesic effects [68, 69]. Second,  $\beta$ -arrestin can bind to  $\mu$ -opioid receptors after they are phosphorylated by GPCR kinases [70] to produce unwanted side effects such as tolerance, increased drug liability, and respiratory depression [71] and ultimately lead to desensitization of the  $\mu$ -opioid receptor itself [70]. In fact, deletion of  $\beta$ -arrestin 2 in mice increased analgesic efficacy of morphine [70], highlighting the importance of biased agonism signaling of opioid receptors. Antagonism of opioid receptors can be accomplished with compounds such as naloxone and naltrexone, which are used to treat opioid overdoses [72].

Knowledge of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of opioids is critical for the understanding of analgesia and abuse potential. When administered orally, morphine rapidly undergoes first pass metabolism [68]. Metabolism of morphine occurs in the liver to produce morphine-3-glucuronide, the major metabolite, and morphine-6-glucuronide, the minor metabolite. Interestingly, morphine-6-glucoronide has greater analgesic activity than morphine itself [73]. To bypass first pass metabolism, opioids can be administered intravenously for rapid analgesic effects or through transdermal patches [68]. Morphine binds to  $\mu$ -opioid receptors in the periaqueductal grey (PAG) to open voltage-dependent K+ channels, and in turn, disinhibits descending pain pathways to produce analgesia [65]. The VTA also contains opioid receptors. Here, the mechanism of action for morphine involves binding to  $\mu$ -opioid receptors on GABA neurons, which inhibits their activity. This results in disinhibition of VTA DA neurons and increases release of DA into the nucleus accumbens [74].

Finally, it is important to note that the body does not produce opioid receptors to respond to exogenous opioid substances such as morphine or heroin, but for responses to endogenous opioid peptides. Endogenous opioid peptides such as enkephalin help modulate the body's response to pain, particularly by binding to opioid receptors in the periaqueductal grey (PAG) of the midbrain [75]. Similar to exogenous opioids, naloxone can also be used to block opioid peptide function, enforcing the fact that these peptides do indeed function through opioid receptors [75].

#### Animal models of addiction

In order to investigate mechanisms that contribute to addiction and reward, animal models can be used to evaluate the neuroadaptations that occur at the behavioral and molecular

level. One common paradigm used to evaluate reward for drugs of abuse such as morphine, is called conditioned place preference (CPP). In CPP, rodents are administered drug in one context and vehicle, as a control, in a different context. On test day, the rodent is allowed to explore the entire CPP chamber and the time spent in each chamber is recorded. If a drug is rewarding, the animal will associate the context with the drug, and spend more time in that chamber indicating preference [76]. CPP is an excellent behavioral tool to help elucidate mechanisms of opiate reward. For instance, viral overexpression of constitutively active proteins or dominant negative proteins can be used to determine the role of that protein [77]. In addition, mice can also be genetically altered to evaluate drug reward. For instance, in opiate reward, receptors can be knocked out to determine how that receptor contributes to the development of this behavior [78]. One caveat of CPP is that drugs are administered by the investigator, and thus, rodents do not have a choice to take the drug or not. This distinction is important for understanding drug addiction, as the increased motivation to consume and/or obtain drug is one of the hallmark characteristics of substance abuse compared to substance use. To address the caveats of CPP, operant conditioning is the gold standard paradigm that has been used for decades for studying addiction [79], particularly in rats [80]. While this behavior is very robust in rats, very few selfadministration studies have been performed using opiates in mice. Thus, for opiate reward, an alternative paradigm to assess voluntary morphine intake is through a morphine drinking assay. Early work demonstrated that mice can be persuaded to voluntarily consume morphine in drinking water, especially when the water is slightly sweetened to lessen the impact of the bitter taste associated with alkaloids like morphine. Morphine preference can be assessed by allowing mice access to two water bottles in their home cage, one containing morphine, and the other containing quinine, which serves as a bitter taste control [81], both dissolved in slightly

sweetened water. Interestingly, there are strain differences in the oral consumption of morphine as it was initially observed that C57BL/6J mice exhibited greater morphine preference compared to DBA/2J mice [82]. In fact, behavioral work in the early 1990's investigated voluntary morphine consumption across 15 strains of mice and found that C57BL/6J mice are the most willing to voluntarily consume morphine [81]. Furthermore, C57BL/6J mice were found to become physically dependent via oral morphine consumption when high doses were used. Use of naloxone, an opioid receptor antagonist, was sufficient to induce withdrawal symptoms such as wet dog shakes, diarrhea, and hypothermia, following morphine dependence [83]. These studies emphasize the suitability of the C57BL/6J strain for evaluating voluntary morphine reward and in addition, by allowing rodents to voluntarily consume more morphine, this paradigm more closely mimics the decision making process of humans.

#### Neuroadaptations induced by chronic opiate exposure

The development of dependence to opiates can be evaluated by examining the changes that are induced after chronic exposure. One neuroadaptation observed after chronic morphine treatment is a decrease in VTA dopamine neuron soma size in both mice and rats [74, 77, 84-86]. The time course for these neuroadaptations is interesting, as this decrease in soma size is maintained for 14 days after the last morphine treatment and is then restored 30 days postmorphine exposure in rats. During the 14-day withdrawal period, rats experience decreased morphine CPP at both 1 and 14 days post-morphine exposure [77], demonstrating that the decrease in soma size correlates to decreased morphine reward. Importantly, VTA DA neuron soma size is also decreased in post-mortem human heroin addict brain samples [74], highlighting the clinical relevance of this morphological change. In addition to altering soma size, morphine also alters the physiological function of VTA DA neurons. Exposure to chronic morphine

increases VTA DA neuron firing while decreasing DA release to the NAc [74]. Moreover, overexpression of a dominant-negative K+ channel, which disrupts the activity of the wild-type K+ channel, was sufficient to decrease VTA DA soma size, while overexpression of a K+ channel prevented the morphine-induced decrease in soma size, linking the change in activity to the morphology. Similarly, decreased VTA DA neuron soma size in a mouse model of mania also yields an increase in firing rate that can also be rescued by the overexpression of K+ channels [87], demonstrating similar regulation by a variety of stimuli.

Given the potential translational relevance of decreased soma size observed in rodents and importantly, human heroin addicts, it is critical to understand the molecular mechanisms that underlie these changes. Early work investigating the decrease in VTA DA neuron soma size after chronic morphine treatment demonstrated that BDNF was able to rescue the decrease in soma size, [84] with the exact mechanism unknown at the time. Further studies investigated the downstream signaling of BDNF, namely the IRS2 (Insulin-receptor substrate 2)-AKT pathway. Specifically, chronic morphine decreased activity of this pathway and viral overexpression of IRS2 and AKT was sufficient to rescue the change in morphology and morphine reward [77]. Similarly to opiates, endogenous opioid peptides released after sexual experience also decrease VTA DA neuron soma size in mice. The decrease in size was noted at days one and seven following sexual experience, with the soma returning back to normal after 30 days. Treatment with naloxone prior to sexual experience blocked the decrease in soma size, demonstrating the role of opioid receptor signaling in this neuroadaptation [88]. It is important to note that this decrease in VTA DA neuron soma size has only been observed with opioids [74, 77, 84], as selfadministration of cocaine, ethanol, or nicotine does not seem to alter VTA DA neuron soma size [89].

# Molecular mechanisms underlying behavioral and morphological changes in response to stress and opiates

Given the co-morbid nature of depression and addiction, several groups are attempting to elucidate the molecular mechanisms of stress-induced drug reward. Early work investigating social defeat stress in rats has demonstrated that these rats will acquire self-administration of cocaine faster than their non-stressed controls [90]. After sensitization to social defeat stress, rats also had a significant increase in cocaine "binge" activity [91]. Chronic social defeat stress also increases cocaine CPP in susceptible mice [47]. Other forms of stress, such as repeated maternal separation, also increased behavioral sensitization to cocaine in male and female mice [92]. Importantly, the exact mechanisms that underlie these changes in stress-induced drug reward are still under investigation, especially for studies involving opiates, which highlights the need for more studies specifically on stress-induced opiate reward.

In review, chronic exposure to both stress and opiates, independently, induces neuroadaptations in the VTA that mediate depressive-like and addictive-like behaviors. Given the similarity of the changes in response to stress and opiates, such as the increase in firing of VTA DA neurons [47, 74] and decreases in phosphorylation of AKT [48, 77], this suggests a common molecular mechanism induced by both stimuli. Importantly, this demonstrates a need to further investigate what is mediating these similar neuroadaptations in the VTA, which could potentially be mTORC2.

#### TOR and its complexes: TORC1 and TORC2

TOR, or the mammalian/mechanistic Target of Rapamycin, is a serine/threonine kinase that associates with a number of proteins to form two distinct complexes, TORC1 and TORC2,

which have different cellular functions [93, 94]. Both TORC1 and TORC2 are comprised of TOR, DEPTOR (DEP domain containing TOR-interacting protein), and LST8 (lethal with sec-13 protein 8). Furthermore, TORC1 also includes Raptor (regulatory-associated protein of mammalian target of rapaymin), and PRAS40 (proline-rich AKT substrate 40 kDa) [94, 95] (Figure 2). TORC2, on the other hand, is differentiated from TORC1 through its association with Protor, SIN1, and Rictor (Rapamycin-insensitive companion of TOR) [96] [95] (Figure 2). As the name suggests, these two complexes have different sensitivities to rapamycin, an immunosuppressive compound that aided in the discovery of TOR in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [97]. In *S. cerevisiae*, TORC1 was discovered to be inhibited by rapamycin while TORC2 was found to not be affected by rapamycin treatment [98].

The components of TORC2 assist in distinguishing the functional differences between the two TOR complexes. TORC2 contains two critical proteins that are essential for its function. First, Rictor, also known as the mammalian analog of AVO3 from *S. cerevisiae*, was identified more recently in 2004 by two groups who were simultaneously working to understand TOR signaling. In an attempt to purify raptor-TOR associated proteins in HEK293T cells, a serendipitous discovery of a 200 kDa protein was made. This protein was eventually named rapamycin-insensitive companion of TOR, or Rictor [96]. Another group (Jacinto et. al.) was investigating the mammalian genome to identify a sequence with 25% similarity to AVO3, in which they named it mAVO3 [99]. Jacinto et. al. identified that TOR could be coimmunoprecipitated with either raptor or mAVO3, but not both, leading to the identification of two different TOR complexes [99]. Together, these two groups discovered a novel protein that is essential to form what we know now as TORC2. Further work to study the function of TORC2 identified SIN1 as another protein necessary for TORC2 function. Mutation at a highly

conserved site, G934, was sufficient to disrupt Rictor's interaction with SIN1, which abolishes the assembly of TORC2 [100]. Overall, TOR's assembly with these two components differentiate TORC2 from TORC1 and suggests that these two TOR complexes have unique functions.



**Figure 2: TORC2 vs. TORC1.** While both complexes contain TOR, Deptor, and LST8, they also contain distinct proteins such as Rictor and Raptor. This difference in complex assembly likely contributes to the differences in TORC1 and TORC2 upstream and downstream signaling.

The functions and downstream and upstream signaling pathways of these two complexes are different. mTORC1 is localized to the lysosome and endoplasmic reticulum [101] and is regulated by insulin, amino acids, and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to promote cellular growth, proliferation, and cell cycle progression [95, 101, 102]. mTORC1's known targets include S6K1 and 4E-BP, in which activation ultimately regulates the translation and synthesis of new proteins and lipids [102]. Because of the various stimuli that can induce mTORC1 activity, the pathway has several feedback mechanisms that control its function [103]. Dysregulation of mTORC1 signaling has been implicated in several disease states such as diabetes, neurodegeneration, and most notably, cancer [94]. Sharing the same core TOR kinase, TORC2 has been investigated both in the yeast line, S. cerevisiae, and also in mammalian cells. Similar to TORC1, TORC2 is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum [104] and when active, is associated with the ribosome [105]. On the other hand, yeast TORC2 is localized to the plasma membrane [106]. Interestingly, in endothelial cells, TORC2 has been shown to also localize in membrane rafts through its association with syndecan-4, a transmembrane protein that acts as a scaffold for signaling complexes. Importantly, knockout of syndecan-4 significantly decreased endothelial cell size, linking TORC2 to control of cell size [107]. Downstream, TORC2 phosphorylates the AGC family of kinases, which includes AKT (at Ser473), PKC (at Ser657), and SGK1 (at Ser422). Functionally, TORC2 signaling has been identified as a regulator of actin cytoskeleton reorganization and cell proliferation [102]. Unlike TORC1, not much is known about what regulates TORC2 activity. There is some evidence to suggest that Rac1, a Rho family GTPase, controls the activity of TORC2, as RNA interference in Hela cells abolishes phosphorylation at AKT S473 [108].

While there are studies that investigate TORC2 in yeast or cell culture, few have elucidated the role of TORC2 in vivo, due in part to the lack of the availability of a pharmacological inhibitor for TORC2. Fortunately, because Rictor is critical for TORC2 function, knockout of Rictor provides a strategy for investigating TORC2 function. Despite the fact that deletion of *rictor* in mice is embryonic lethal [109], Cre-lox technology can be used to investigate TORC2 signaling by allowing deletion of *rictor* in specific cell types. In addition, because no pharmacological inhibitors are available to inhibit TORC2, genetic manipulation of Rictor can be used to specifically investigate TORC2 signaling while leaving TORC1 intact [74, 110-114]. Dysfunction of TORC2 signaling has been implicated in schizophrenia [111] and opiate reward [74] due to evidence of dysregulation of AKT signaling, specifically altered phosphorylation at S473 [111]. Because TORC2 is known to regulate phosphorylation at that site, Rictor was deleted from forebrain neurons using Cre-lox technology, to investigate schizophrenia-like behaviors in mice. Deletion of Rictor led to a decrease in pAKT at S473 with no change in total AKT expression. This loss in pAKT signaling led to sensory motor dysfunction measured by prepusle inhibition, cortical hypodopaminergia, and an increase in norepinephrine transporter expression and function [111]. Similarly in opiate reward, manipulation of TORC2 signaling in the VTA, which controls the phosphorylation of pAKT at S473, increases and decreases preferences for morphine through overexpression and knockout of Rictor, respectively [74]. More recent work has explored TORC2 signaling in mediating reward in catecholaminergic neurons. Because food is considered to be a natural reward, feeding behavior was investigated in mice deficient of Rictor in catecholaminergic cells through the use of TH-Cre. Male Rictor KO mice exhibit a significant increase in mass, driven by an increase in lean mass, with no differences in standard chow intake or feed efficiency compared to controls.

Interestingly, an increase was seen in the consumption of high-fat diet (HFD) in Rictor KO mice in the first six days of consumption with no change in feed efficiency, or change in normal chow consumption. DA neurotransmission is also altered in Rictor KO mice, as they have a significant increase in novelty-induced locomotion and amphetamine-induced locomotion, while having a decrease in DA content in the nucleus accumbens [112]. Overall, while multiple studies have elucidated downstream mechanisms and functions for TORC2 in yeast and mammalian cells, much less has been determined in the brain. Thus, further investigation is needed to identify the role/s of brain TORC2 signaling.

#### Actin cytoskeleton remodeling and Rho GTPase signaling

Primary studies in yeast established a role for TORC2 in regulating the actin cytoskeleton [96]. The cytoskeleton of a mammalian cell consists of microtubules, intermediate filaments, and actin [115] to help maintain cellular shape and function. Microtubules form networks throughout the cell to help regulate intracellular trafficking [115]. Intermediate filaments provide support to cells under mechanical stress and work by interacting with microtubules and actin filaments [115]. Actin, a 43 kDa protein [116] that exists as G-actin monomer, assembles to form F-actin. F-actin is a polymer of G-actin monomers that assemble as a helical strand to provide structure for the cell [117] and is constantly turned over in a process called treadmilling. In this process, actin-ADP (adenosine diphosphate) monomers disassemble at the minus end while other actin-ATP monomers assemble at the plus end [118]. A number of proteins called actin-binding proteins (ABP) assist in the actin turnover and assembly to control the cytoskeletal remodeling process [117]. Profilin promotes actin polymerization by binding to and attaching actin monomers to actin filaments [119]. Cofilin, on the other hand, promotes actin depolymerization by binding to ADP-bound F-actin to destabilize actin filaments for severing [118]. These

proteins are regulated through multiple upstream mediators and complex signaling pathways to maintain the actin cytoskeleton. Accordingly, it is important to gain understanding of the actin cytoskeleton itself and identify the dynamic changes that occur when homeostasis is disrupted.

The actin cytoskeleton consists of a dynamic set of proteins that are constantly turning over and remodeling in order for the cell to maintain its shape and also respond to environmental cues though alteration in cell motility, division, and trafficking [117]. More importantly, the actin cytoskeleton is also critical for morphological changes in neurons, such as in alterations in spine density [120]. These changes in the actin cytoskeleton are mediated, in part, by the Rho family of GTPases. There are approximately 20 members of the Rho GTPase family, in which activation of these GTPases help cells respond to external stimuli [121]. For instance, in neurons, dendritic spine remodeling involves reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton in response to drugs [58, 122, 123] or a physiological stimulus [124]. Many studies have demonstrated a role for the Rho family of GTPases, such as Rac1, Cdc42, and Rho A, in spine remodeling [120]. Rac1 and Cdc42 function similarly by increasing spine density, while Rho A acts oppositely to decrease spine density.

Knowing how these Rho GTPases work is critical for understanding how the cytoskeleton functions. These GTPases begin in an active state, bound to GTP. Once the tertiary phosphate is hydrolyzed on GTP, the GTPase returns to an inactive, GDP-bound state. GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) can bind to active GTPases and increase the rate at which GTP is hydrolyzed, thus terminating the activity of the GTPase. Conversely, guanine exchange factors (GEFs) increase the activation of GTPases by increasing the rate by which GDP is released from GTPases to allow GTP to bind [120]. Rac1 initiates a kinase cascade by activating p21-activated kinase (PAK) to promote phosphorylation of LIM kinase (LIMK). LIMK then phosphorylates

proteins in the ADP/cofilin family, such as cofilin, specifically at S3 [121] (Figure 3).

Phosphorylation of cofilin and other members of its family inhibit the actin-severing function of these proteins [117, 121]. Thus, through this cascade, Rac1 activation ultimately leads to changes in the actin cytoskeleton. Importantly, signaling through Rac1 is not linear in the sense that a lot of cross-talk occurs with the proteins in the Rac1-PAK-LIMK-Cofilin pathway. Testis-specific kinase (TESK) can also control cofilin phosphorylation, but the mechanism by which TESK is regulated remains to be elucidated [121]. Rho-associated protein kinase (ROCK) can also phosphorylate LIMK to promote Cofilin inactivation [121].



i,

**Figure 3: Proposed mechanism by which TORC2 alters the actin cytoskeleton.** Rictor interacts with Tiam1 which activates Rac1. Upon activation, Rac1 initiates a cascade of phosphorylation reactions to ultimately promote cytoskeletal remodeling.

Manipulation of Rac1 in the brain has been implicated in drug reward and susceptibility to stress. In mice, repeated cocaine administration reduced Rac1 activity in the nucleus accumbens (NAc), and also decreased phosphorylated Cofilin and Tiam1 ((T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis-1, a guanine exchange factor of Rac1) expression [125]. Furthermore, overexpression of dominant-negative Rac1 in the NAc significantly increased total spine density and increased cocaine CPP at a relatively low dose [125], demonstrating the importance of cytoskeletal remodeling in drug reward. Similarly, CSDS significantly decreased Rac1 mRNA and protein in the NAc of susceptible, but not resilient, mice [126]. Susceptible mice also have a significant increase in stubby spines compared to their non-stressed controls, and this increase in spines can be rescued with the overexpression of a constitutively active Rac1 in the NAc [126], demonstrating the important role of Rac1 in cytoskeletal remodeling.

More importantly, Rac1 activity has been directly tied to TORC2 in the brain in regions such as the hippocampus. TORC2 signaling has been implicated in long-term memory consolidation in the hippocampus. Deletion of Rictor was driven by the expression of camk2a-Cre in floxed Rictor mice. Rictor KO mice displayed impaired long-term memory (LTM) as measured by contextual fear conditioning, and also displayed impaired spatial LTM as measured by the Morris water maze. As actin cytoskeleton dynamics are altered in long-term memory formation in the hippocampus [114], the role of TORC2 signaling in mediating cytoskeletal changes was investigated. Rac1 and Cdc42, two members of the Rho-GTPase family, were investigated. A significant decrease in Rac1 activity but not Cdc42 activity was observed. Consistent with decreased Rac1 activity, significant decreases in pPAK and pCofilin in the dorsal hippocampus were observed in Rictor KO mice. A decrease in the number of dendritic spines of CA1 pyramidal neurons in Rictor KO mice was also observed, linking TORC2-

dependent decreases in Rac1 signaling to cytoskeletal remodeling. Co-immunoprecipitation studies found that the GEF Tiam1 directly interacts with Rictor, defining the mechanism of TORC2 control of Rac1 signaling in hippocampus. Rictor KO has also been found to alter cellular size. Ablation of Rictor by nestin-Cre, which deletes neuronal Rictor throughout the brain, significantly decreased brain weight compared to littermate controls [85]. Examination of neurons in the hippocampus of these Rictor KO mice revealed a significant decrease in neuron soma size compared to their controls [85].

However, deletion of Rictor can also alter the cytoskeleton through mechanisms that do not utilize GTPases. For instance, in cerebellar Purkinje cells, not only did Rictor deletion significantly decrease soma size, but it also decreased the total dendritic length. These morphological changes were linked with functional changes, as frequency of both miniature excitatory and inhibitory postsynaptic currents of the Purkinje cells were decreased [85]. Biochemical analysis demonstrated that deletion of Rictor in the cerebellum decreases the phosphorylation of GAP-42 and pMARCKS, two proteins downstream of PKCα that are involved in actin turnover [85, 127]. This suggests that TORC2 can alter the actin cytoskeleton through multiple mechanisms and that this may be specific to different brain regions.

#### Conclusion

Depression and addiction are devastating comorbid disorders that result, in part, through altered signaling of the brain reward circuit. While current therapies help many patients, they are inadequate for others, and improved treatment is dependent on a better understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms that contribute to altered circuit activity. In particular, our understanding of the mechanisms that contribute to changes in the VTA in response to chronic

stress and opiates is limited. Excitingly, evidence suggests that chronic stress and opiates induce similar changes in the VTA, suggesting there might be common molecular mechanisms underlying these disorders. For instance, the decrease in phosphorylation of AKT at S473 is observed in both chronic morphine treatment [74, 77] and CSDS [47]. More importantly, modulation of AKT signaling directly corresponds to changes in both morphine reward and susceptibility to stress [47, 77]. Upstream regulation of AKT at S473 is mediated by mTORC2 [102] and we know that modulating mTORC2 through the expression of Rictor, a critical component of TORC2, modulates morphine reward and VTA DA neuron soma size [74]. A direct connection between TORC2 and susceptibility to chronic social defeat stress has not been established, nor has the field investigated the potential role of TORC2 in stress-induced drug reward. Thus, for Aims 1 and 2, we hypothesize that susceptibility to chronic social defeat stress and stress-induced changes in morphine reward are mediated by TORC2. Given that VTA DA neuron soma size correlates with changes in VTA DA neuronal activity and morphine reward, and is observed across multiple species, including mice [74], rats [84], and humans [74], understanding the mechanisms of these neuroadaptation is essential for identifying novel targets for therapeutic intervention. Furthermore, neuronal size and morphology is tied to changes in the actin cytoskeleton and TORC2 has been demonstrated to be involved in mediating the actin cytoskeleton in yeast [98] and mammalian cells [99], both in the brain and in the periphery. Moreover, recent data find that TORC2-dependent changes in Rac1 signaling are sufficient to alter hippocampal neuronal morphology [114]. Thus, we hypothesize in Aim 3 that, TORC2 regulates Rac1 signaling in the VTA and that morphine-induced decreases in TORC2 signaling *leads to decreased Rac1 signaling.* Overall, this dissertation seeks to answer the central hypothesis that alteration of TORC2 signaling in the VTA contributes to changes in stress-

induced morphine reward and CSDS susceptibility through modulation of specific downstream signaling molecules such as Rac1.

REFERENCES

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Kaska, S. and M. Mazei-Robison, *Depression*. eLS, 2016: p. 1-8.
- 2. World Health Organization, *Depression*. 2015.
- 3. Volkow, N.D. and T.K. Li, *Drug addiction: the neurobiology of behaviour gone awry*. Nat Rev Neurosci, 2004. **5**(12): p. 963-70.
- 4. Volkow, N.D., *The reality of comorbidity: depression and drug abuse*. Biol Psychiatry, 2004. **56**(10): p. 714-7.
- 5. Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration, *Results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Findings.* 2013(HHS publication No. (SMA) 13-4805).
- 6. Greenberg, P.E., A.A. Fournier, T. Sisitsky, C.T. Pike, and R.C. Kessler, *The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010).* J Clin Psychiatry, 2015. **76**(2): p. 155-62.
- 7. National Drug Intelligence Center, *National Drug Threat Assessment*, U.S.D.o. Justice, Editor. 2011. p. 72.
- 8. Manchikanti, L., B. Fellows, H. Ailinani, and V. Pampati, *Therapeutic use, abuse, and nonmedical use of opioids: a ten-year perspective*. Pain Physician, 2010. **13**(5): p. 401-35.
- 9. Volkow, N.D., G.J. Wang, J.S. Fowler, and D. Tomasi, *Addiction circuitry in the human brain*. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2012. **52**: p. 321-36.
- 10. Sinha, R., *Chronic stress, drug use, and vulnerability to addiction.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2008. **1141**: p. 105-30.
- 11. Shapero, B.G., S.K. Black, R.T. Liu, J. Klugman, R.E. Bender, L.Y. Abramson, and L.B. Alloy, *Stressful life events and depression symptoms: the effect of childhood emotional abuse on stress reactivity.* J Clin Psychol, 2014. **70**(3): p. 209-23.
- 12. Polter, A.M. and J.A. Kauer, *Stress and VTA synapses: implications for addiction and depression*. Eur J Neurosci, 2014. **39**(7): p. 1179-88.
- 13. American Psychiatric Association. and American Psychiatric Association. DSM-5 Task Force., *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders : DSM-5*. 5th ed. 2013, Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association. xliv, 947 p.

- 14. Kendler, K.S., M.C. Neale, R.C. Kessler, A.C. Heath, and L.J. Eaves, *The lifetime history of major depression in women. Reliability of diagnosis and heritability.* Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1993. **50**(11): p. 863-70.
- 15. Sullivan, P.F., M.C. Neale, and K.S. Kendler, *Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis.* Am J Psychiatry, 2000. **157**(10): p. 1552-62.
- 16. Levinson, D.F., *The genetics of depression: a review*. Biol Psychiatry, 2006. **60**(2): p. 84-92.
- 17. CONVERGE consortium, Sparse whole-genome sequencing identifies two loci for major depressive disorder. Nature, 2015. **523**(7562): p. 588-591.
- 18. Libert, S., K. Pointer, E.L. Bell, A. Das, D.E. Cohen, J.M. Asara, K. Kapur, S. Bergmann, M. Preisig, T. Otowa, K.S. Kendler, X. Chen, J.M. Hettema, E.J. van den Oord, J.P. Rubio, and L. Guarente, *SIRT1 activates MAO-A in the brain to mediate anxiety and exploratory drive*. Cell, 2011. **147**(7): p. 1459-72.
- 19. Smith, S.M. and W.W. Vale, *The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress*. Dialogues Clin Neurosci, 2006. **8**(4): p. 383-95.
- 20. Pariante, C.M. and S.L. Lightman, *The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments*. Trends Neurosci, 2008. **31**(9): p. 464-8.
- 21. Nemeroff, C.B., E. Widerlov, G. Bissette, H. Walleus, I. Karlsson, K. Eklund, C.D. Kilts, P.T. Loosen, and W. Vale, *Elevated concentrations of CSF corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivity in depressed patients*. Science, 1984. **226**(4680): p. 1342-4.
- 22. Essex, M.J., M.H. Klein, E. Cho, and N.H. Kalin, *Maternal stress beginning in infancy may sensitize children to later stress exposure: effects on cortisol and behavior*. Biol Psychiatry, 2002. **52**(8): p. 776-84.
- Liu, D., J. Diorio, B. Tannenbaum, C. Caldji, D. Francis, A. Freedman, S. Sharma, D. Pearson, P.M. Plotsky, and M.J. Meaney, *Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress.* Science, 1997. 277(5332): p. 1659-62.
- 24. Baumeister, A.A., M.F. Hawkins, and S.M. Uzelac, *The myth of reserpine-induced depression: role in the historical development of the monoamine hypothesis.* J Hist Neurosci, 2003. **12**(2): p. 207-20.
- 25. Pearl, S.M. and M.J. Zigmond, Amine Neurotransmitters. eLS, 2002: p. 1-7.
- 26. Stahl, S.M., *Basic psychopharmacology of antidepressants, part 1: Antidepressants have seven distinct mechanisms of action.* J Clin Psychiatry, 1998. **59 Suppl 4**: p. 5-14.

- 27. Ferguson, J.M., *SSRI Antidepressant Medications: Adverse Effects and Tolerability*. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry, 2001. **3**(1): p. 22-27.
- 28. Charney, D.S., D.B. Menkes, and G.R. Heninger, *Receptor sensitivity and the mechanism of action of antidepressant treatment. Implications for the etiology and therapy of depression.* Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1981. **38**(10): p. 1160-80.
- 29. Feighner, J.P., *Mechanism of action of antidepressant medications*. J Clin Psychiatry, 1999. **60 Suppl 4**: p. 4-11; discussion 12-3.
- 30. Linde, K., L. Kriston, G. Rucker, S. Jamil, I. Schumann, K. Meissner, K. Sigterman, and A. Schneider, *Efficacy and acceptability of pharmacological treatments for depressive disorders in primary care: systematic review and network meta-analysis.* Ann Fam Med, 2015. **13**(1): p. 69-79.
- 31. ClinicalTrials.gov. *Rapid antidepressant effects of ketamine in major depression*. 2015; Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00088699.
- 32. Li, N., B. Lee, R.J. Liu, M. Banasr, J.M. Dwyer, M. Iwata, X.Y. Li, G. Aghajanian, and R.S. Duman, *mTOR-dependent synapse formation underlies the rapid antidepressant effects of NMDA antagonists.* Science, 2010. **329**(5994): p. 959-64.
- 33. Sanacora, G., M.A. Frye, W. McDonald, S.J. Mathew, M.S. Turner, A.F. Schatzberg, P. Summergrad, C.B. Nemeroff, B. American Psychiatric Association Council of Research Task Force on Novel, and Treatments, *A Consensus Statement on the Use of Ketamine in the Treatment of Mood Disorders.* JAMA Psychiatry, 2017. **74**(4): p. 399-405.
- 34. Pizzagalli, D.A., A.J. Holmes, D.G. Dillon, E.L. Goetz, J.L. Birk, R. Bogdan, D.D. Dougherty, D.V. Iosifescu, S.L. Rauch, and M. Fava, *Reduced caudate and nucleus accumbens response to rewards in unmedicated individuals with major depressive disorder*. Am J Psychiatry, 2009. 166(6): p. 702-10.
- Drevets, W.C., T.O. Videen, J.L. Price, S.H. Preskorn, S.T. Carmichael, and M.E. Raichle, *A functional anatomical study of unipolar depression*. J Neurosci, 1992. 12(9): p. 3628-41.
- 36. Hastings, R.S., R.V. Parsey, M.A. Oquendo, V. Arango, and J.J. Mann, *Volumetric analysis of the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus in major depression*. Neuropsychopharmacology, 2004. **29**(5): p. 952-9.
- Bremner, J.D., M. Narayan, E.R. Anderson, L.H. Staib, H.L. Miller, and D.S. Charney, *Hippocampal volume reduction in major depression*. Am J Psychiatry, 2000. 157(1): p. 115-8.
- Krishnan, V. and E.J. Nestler, *The molecular neurobiology of depression*. Nature, 2008.
  455(7215): p. 894-902.

- 39. Abelaira, H.M., G.Z. Reus, and J. Quevedo, *Animal models as tools to study the pathophysiology of depression*. Rev Bras Psiquiatr, 2013. **35 Suppl 2**: p. S112-20.
- 40. Willner, P., *The chronic mild stress (CMS) model of depression: History, evaluation and usage.* Neurobiol Stress, 2017. **6**: p. 78-93.
- 41. Willner, P., R. Muscat, and M. Papp, *Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: a realistic animal model of depression*. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 1992. **16**(4): p. 525-34.
- 42. Papp, M., E. Moryl, and P. Willner, *Pharmacological validation of the chronic mild stress model of depression*. Eur J Pharmacol, 1996. **296**(2): p. 129-36.
- 43. Cheeta, S., G. Ruigt, J. van Proosdij, and P. Willner, *Changes in sleep architecture following chronic mild stress*. Biol Psychiatry, 1997. **41**(4): p. 419-27.
- 44. Luo, Y., Z. Cao, D. Wang, L. Wu, Y. Li, W. Sun, and Y. Zhu, *Dynamic study of the hippocampal volume by structural MRI in a rat model of depression*. Neurol Sci, 2014. **35**(11): p. 1777-83.
- Ayensu, W.K., O. Pucilowski, G.A. Mason, D.H. Overstreet, A.H. Rezvani, and D.S. Janowsky, *Effects of chronic mild stress on serum complement activity, saccharin preference, and corticosterone levels in Flinders lines of rats.* Physiol Behav, 1995. 57(1): p. 165-9.
- 46. Berton, O., C.A. McClung, R.J. Dileone, V. Krishnan, W. Renthal, S.J. Russo, D. Graham, N.M. Tsankova, C.A. Bolanos, M. Rios, L.M. Monteggia, D.W. Self, and E.J. Nestler, *Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress*. Science, 2006. **311**(5762): p. 864-8.
- Krishnan, V., M.H. Han, D.L. Graham, O. Berton, W. Renthal, S.J. Russo, Q. Laplant, A. Graham, M. Lutter, D.C. Lagace, S. Ghose, R. Reister, P. Tannous, T.A. Green, R.L. Neve, S. Chakravarty, A. Kumar, A.J. Eisch, D.W. Self, F.S. Lee, C.A. Tamminga, D.C. Cooper, H.K. Gershenfeld, and E.J. Nestler, *Molecular adaptations underlying susceptibility and resistance to social defeat in brain reward regions*. Cell, 2007. 131(2): p. 391-404.
- 48. Krishnan, V., M.H. Han, M. Mazei-Robison, S.D. Iniguez, J.L. Ables, V. Vialou, O. Berton, S. Ghose, H.E. Covington, 3rd, M.D. Wiley, R.P. Henderson, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, C.A. Tamminga, S.J. Russo, C.A. Bolanos, and E.J. Nestler, *AKT signaling within the ventral tegmental area regulates cellular and behavioral responses to stressful stimuli*. Biol Psychiatry, 2008. **64**(8): p. 691-700.
- Friedman, A.K., J.J. Walsh, B. Juarez, S.M. Ku, D. Chaudhury, J. Wang, X. Li, D.M. Dietz, N. Pan, V.F. Vialou, R.L. Neve, Z. Yue, and M.H. Han, *Enhancing depression mechanisms in midbrain dopamine neurons achieves homeostatic resilience*. Science, 2014. 344(6181): p. 313-9.

- 50. Lammel, S., B.K. Lim, and R.C. Malenka, *Reward and aversion in a heterogeneous midbrain dopamine system*. Neuropharmacology, 2014. **76 Pt B**: p. 351-9.
- 51. Kelley, A.E. and K.C. Berridge, *The neuroscience of natural rewards: relevance to addictive drugs.* J Neurosci, 2002. **22**(9): p. 3306-11.
- 52. Walsh, J.J. and M.H. Han, *The heterogeneity of ventral tegmental area neurons: Projection functions in a mood-related context.* Neuroscience, 2014. **282**: p. 101-8.
- 53. Nair-Roberts, R.G., S.D. Chatelain-Badie, E. Benson, H. White-Cooper, J.P. Bolam, and M.A. Ungless, *Stereological estimates of dopaminergic, GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra and retrorubral field in the rat.* Neuroscience, 2008. **152**(4): p. 1024-31.
- 54. Morales, M. and E.B. Margolis, *Ventral tegmental area: cellular heterogeneity, connectivity and behaviour*. Nat Rev Neurosci, 2017. **18**(2): p. 73-85.
- 55. Lammel, S., B.K. Lim, C. Ran, K.W. Huang, M.J. Betley, K.M. Tye, K. Deisseroth, and R.C. Malenka, *Input-specific control of reward and aversion in the ventral tegmental area.* Nature, 2012. **491**(7423): p. 212-7.
- 56. Nieh, E.H., C.M. Vander Weele, G.A. Matthews, K.N. Presbrey, R. Wichmann, C.A. Leppla, E.M. Izadmehr, and K.M. Tye, *Inhibitory Input from the Lateral Hypothalamus to the Ventral Tegmental Area Disinhibits Dopamine Neurons and Promotes Behavioral Activation*. Neuron, 2016. **90**(6): p. 1286-98.
- 57. Friedman, A.K., B. Juarez, S.M. Ku, H. Zhang, R.C. Calizo, J.J. Walsh, D. Chaudhury, S. Zhang, A. Hawkins, D.M. Dietz, J.W. Murrough, M. Ribadeneira, E.H. Wong, R.L. Neve, and M.H. Han, *KCNQ channel openers reverse depressive symptoms via an active resilience mechanism.* Nat Commun, 2016. **7**: p. 11671.
- 58. Russo, S.J., M.S. Mazei-Robison, J.L. Ables, and E.J. Nestler, *Neurotrophic factors and structural plasticity in addiction*. Neuropharmacology, 2009. **56 Suppl 1**: p. 73-82.
- 59. Volkow, N.D., G.J. Wang, J.S. Fowler, D. Tomasi, and F. Telang, *Addiction: beyond dopamine reward circuitry*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. **108**(37): p. 15037-42.
- 60. Volkow, N.D. and M. Muenke, *The genetics of addiction*. Hum Genet, 2012. **131**(6): p. 773-7.
- 61. Palmer, A.A. and H. de Wit, *Translational genetic approaches to substance use disorders: bridging the gap between mice and humans*. Hum Genet, 2012. **131**(6): p. 931-9.
- 62. Skolnick, P. and N.D. Volkow, *Addiction therapeutics: obstacles and opportunities*. Biol Psychiatry, 2012. **72**(11): p. 890-1.

- 63. Martin, W.R., *Pharmacology of opioids*. Pharmacol Rev, 1983. **35**(4): p. 283-323.
- 64. Pasternak, G.W., *Molecular biology of opioid analgesia*. J Pain Symptom Manage, 2005. **29**(5 Suppl): p. S2-9.
- 65. Christie, M.J., M. Connor, C.W. Vaughan, S.L. Ingram, and E.E. Bagley, *Cellular actions of opioids and other analgesics: implications for synergism in pain relief.* Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol, 2000. **27**(7): p. 520-3.
- 66. Brownstein, M.J., *A brief history of opiates, opioid peptides, and opioid receptors*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. **90**(12): p. 5391-3.
- 67. Peckham, E.M. and J.R. Traynor, *Comparison of the antinociceptive response to morphine and morphine-like compounds in male and female Sprague-Dawley rats.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2006. **316**(3): p. 1195-201.
- 68. Fox, C.J., H.A. Hawney, and A.D. Kaye, *Opioids: Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics*. 2011: p. 91-103.
- 69. Traynor, J., *mu-Opioid receptors and regulators of G protein signaling (RGS) proteins: from a symposium on new concepts in mu-opioid pharmacology.* Drug Alcohol Depend, 2012. **121**(3): p. 173-80.
- Bohn, L.M., R.J. Lefkowitz, R.R. Gainetdinov, K. Peppel, M.G. Caron, and F.T. Lin, Enhanced morphine analgesia in mice lacking beta-arrestin 2. Science, 1999. 286(5449): p. 2495-8.
- Manglik, A., H. Lin, D.K. Aryal, J.D. McCorvy, D. Dengler, G. Corder, A. Levit, R.C. Kling, V. Bernat, H. Hubner, X.P. Huang, M.F. Sassano, P.M. Giguere, S. Lober, D. Da, G. Scherrer, B.K. Kobilka, P. Gmeiner, B.L. Roth, and B.K. Shoichet, *Structure-based discovery of opioid analgesics with reduced side effects*. Nature, 2016. 537(7619): p. 185-190.
- 72. Clarke, S.F., P.I. Dargan, and A.L. Jones, *Naloxone in opioid poisoning: walking the tightrope*. Emerg Med J, 2005. **22**(9): p. 612-6.
- 73. De Gregori, S., M. De Gregori, G.N. Ranzani, M. Allegri, C. Minella, and M. Regazzi, *Morphine metabolism, transport and brain disposition.* Metab Brain Dis, 2012. **27**(1): p. 1-5.
- 74. Mazei-Robison, M.S., J.W. Koo, A.K. Friedman, C.S. Lansink, A.J. Robison, M. Vinish, V. Krishnan, S. Kim, M.A. Siuta, A. Galli, K.D. Niswender, R. Appasani, M.C. Horvath, R.L. Neve, P.F. Worley, S.H. Snyder, Y.L. Hurd, J.F. Cheer, M.H. Han, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Role for mTOR signaling and neuronal activity in morphine-induced adaptations in ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons*. Neuron, 2011. **72**(6): p. 977-90.

- 75. Basbaum, A.I. and H.L. Fields, *Endogenous Pain Control Mechanisms Review and Hypothesis.* Annals of Neurology, 1978. **4**(5): p. 451-462.
- 76. Cunningham, C.L., C.M. Gremel, and P.A. Groblewski, *Drug-induced conditioned place preference and aversion in mice*. Nat Protoc, 2006. **1**(4): p. 1662-70.
- 77. Russo, S.J., C.A. Bolanos, D.E. Theobald, N.A. DeCarolis, W. Renthal, A. Kumar, C.A. Winstanley, N.E. Renthal, M.D. Wiley, D.W. Self, D.S. Russell, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, and E.J. Nestler, *IRS2-Akt pathway in midbrain dopamine neurons regulates behavioral and cellular responses to opiates*. Nat Neurosci, 2007. **10**(1): p. 93-9.
- 78. Rice, O.V., N. Gordon, and A.N. Gifford, *Conditioned place preference to morphine in cannabinoid CB1 receptor knockout mice*. Brain Res, 2002. **945**(1): p. 135-8.
- 79. Silverman, K., *Exploring the limits and utility of operant conditioning in the treatment of drug addiction*. Behav Anal, 2004. **27**(2): p. 209-30.
- 80. Bozarth, M.A. and R.A. Wise, *Intracranial self-administration of morphine into the ventral tegmental area in rats.* Life Sci, 1981. **28**(5): p. 551-5.
- 81. Belknap, J.K., J.C. Crabbe, J. Riggan, and L.A. O'Toole, *Voluntary consumption of morphine in 15 inbred mouse strains*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1993. **112**(2-3): p. 352-8.
- 82. Horowitz, G.P., G. Whitney, J.C. Smith, and F.K. Stephan, *Morphine ingestion: genetic control in mice*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1977. **52**(2): p. 119-22.
- 83. Belknap, J.K., *Physical dependence induced by the voluntary consumption of morphine in inbred mice*. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 1990. **35**(2): p. 311-5.
- 84. Sklair-Tavron, L., W.X. Shi, S.B. Lane, H.W. Harris, B.S. Bunney, and E.J. Nestler, *Chronic morphine induces visible changes in the morphology of mesolimbic dopamine neurons*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(20): p. 11202-7.
- 85. Thomanetz, V., N. Angliker, D. Cloetta, R.M. Lustenberger, M. Schweighauser, F. Oliveri, N. Suzuki, and M.A. Ruegg, *Ablation of the mTORC2 component rictor in brain or Purkinje cells affects size and neuron morphology*. J Cell Biol, 2013. **201**(2): p. 293-308.
- Li, L., J. Cao, S. Zhang, C. Wang, J. Wang, G. Song, H. Wang, and L. Zhang, NCAM signaling mediates the effects of GDNF on chronic morphine-induced neuroadaptations. J Mol Neurosci, 2014. 53(4): p. 580-9.
- 87. Coque, L., S. Mukherjee, J.L. Cao, S. Spencer, M. Marvin, E. Falcon, M.M. Sidor, S.G. Birnbaum, A. Graham, R.L. Neve, E. Gordon, A.R. Ozburn, M.S. Goldberg, M.H. Han,

D.C. Cooper, and C.A. McClung, *Specific role of VTA dopamine neuronal firing rates and morphology in the reversal of anxiety-related, but not depression-related behavior in the ClockDelta19 mouse model of mania.* Neuropsychopharmacology, 2011. **36**(7): p. 1478-88.

- 88. Pitchers, K.K., C.M. Coppens, L.N. Beloate, J. Fuller, S. Van, K.S. Frohmader, S.R. Laviolette, M.N. Lehman, and L.M. Coolen, *Endogenous opioid-induced neuroplasticity of dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area influences natural and opiate reward*. J Neurosci, 2014. **34**(26): p. 8825-36.
- Mazei-Robison, M.S., R. Appasani, S. Edwards, S. Wee, S.R. Taylor, M.R. Picciotto, G.F. Koob, and E.J. Nestler, *Self-administration of ethanol, cocaine, or nicotine does not decrease the soma size of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons*. PLoS One, 2014. 9(4): p. e95962.
- 90. Tidey, J.W. and K.A. Miczek, *Acquisition of cocaine self-administration after social stress: role of accumbens dopamine*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1997. **130**(3): p. 203-12.
- 91. Covington, H.E., 3rd and K.A. Miczek, *Repeated social-defeat stress, cocaine or morphine. Effects on behavioral sensitization and intravenous cocaine self-administration "binges"*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 2001. **158**(4): p. 388-98.
- 92. Kikusui, T., S. Faccidomo, and K.A. Miczek, *Repeated maternal separation: differences in cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization in adult male and female mice.* Psychopharmacology (Berl), 2005. **178**(2-3): p. 202-10.
- 93. Dazert, E. and M.N. Hall, *mTOR signaling in disease*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2011. **23**(6): p. 744-55.
- 94. Laplante, M. and D.M. Sabatini, *mTOR signaling in growth control and disease*. Cell, 2012. **149**(2): p. 274-93.
- 95. Lipton, J.O. and M. Sahin, *The neurology of mTOR*. Neuron, 2014. **84**(2): p. 275-91.
- 96. Sarbassov, D.D., S.M. Ali, D.H. Kim, D.A. Guertin, R.R. Latek, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and D.M. Sabatini, *Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton.* Curr Biol, 2004. **14**(14): p. 1296-302.
- 97. Heitman, J., N.R. Movva, and M.N. Hall, *Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast*. Science, 1991. **253**(5022): p. 905-9.
- 98. Loewith, R., E. Jacinto, S. Wullschleger, A. Lorberg, J.L. Crespo, D. Bonenfant, W. Oppliger, P. Jenoe, and M.N. Hall, *Two TOR complexes, only one of which is rapamycin sensitive, have distinct roles in cell growth control.* Mol Cell, 2002. **10**(3): p. 457-68.

- 99. Jacinto, E., R. Loewith, A. Schmidt, S. Lin, M.A. Ruegg, A. Hall, and M.N. Hall, *Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive*. Nat Cell Biol, 2004. **6**(11): p. 1122-8.
- 100. Aimbetov, R., C.H. Chen, O. Bulgakova, D. Abetov, A.K. Bissenbaev, R.I. Bersimbaev, and D.D. Sarbassov, *Integrity of mTORC2 is dependent on the rictor Gly-934 site*. Oncogene, 2012. **31**(16): p. 2115-20.
- 101. Shimobayashi, M. and M.N. Hall, *Multiple amino acid sensing inputs to mTORC1*. Cell Res, 2016. **26**(1): p. 7-20.
- 102. Foster, K.G. and D.C. Fingar, *Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR): conducting the cellular signaling symphony*. J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(19): p. 14071-7.
- 103. Beauchamp, E.M. and L.C. Platanias, *The evolution of the TOR pathway and its role in cancer*. Oncogene, 2013. **32**(34): p. 3923-32.
- 104. Boulbes, D.R., T. Shaiken, and D. Sarbassov dos, *Endoplasmic reticulum is a main localization site of mTORC2*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2011. **413**(1): p. 46-52.
- 105. Zinzalla, V., D. Stracka, W. Oppliger, and M.N. Hall, *Activation of mTORC2 by association with the ribosome*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 757-68.
- 106. Berchtold, D. and T.C. Walther, *TORC2 plasma membrane localization is essential for cell viability and restricted to a distinct domain*. Mol Biol Cell, 2009. **20**(5): p. 1565-75.
- 107. Partovian, C., R. Ju, Z.W. Zhuang, K.A. Martin, and M. Simons, *Syndecan-4 regulates* subcellular localization of mTOR Complex2 and Akt activation in a PKCalpha-dependent manner in endothelial cells. Mol Cell, 2008. **32**(1): p. 140-9.
- 108. Saci, A., L.C. Cantley, and C.L. Carpenter, *Rac1 regulates the activity of mTORC1 and mTORC2 and controls cellular size*. Mol Cell, 2011. **42**(1): p. 50-61.
- 109. Shiota, C., J.T. Woo, J. Lindner, K.D. Shelton, and M.A. Magnuson, *Multiallelic disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability*. Dev Cell, 2006. **11**(4): p. 583-9.
- Kaska, S., R. Brunk, V. Bali, M. Kechner, and M.S. Mazei-Robison, *Deletion of Rictor in catecholaminergic neurons alters locomotor activity and ingestive behavior*. Neuropharmacology, 2017. **117**: p. 158-170.
- 111. Siuta, M.A., S.D. Robertson, H. Kocalis, C. Saunders, P.J. Gresch, V. Khatri, C. Shiota, J.P. Kennedy, C.W. Lindsley, L.C. Daws, D.B. Polley, J. Veenstra-Vanderweele, G.D. Stanwood, M.A. Magnuson, K.D. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Dysregulation of the*

norepinephrine transporter sustains cortical hypodopaminergia and schizophrenia-like behaviors in neuronal rictor null mice. PLoS Biol, 2010. **8**(6): p. e1000393.

- 112. Dadalko, O.I., K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Impaired mTORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic neurons exaggerates high fat diet-induced hyperphagia*. Heliyon, 2015. 1(1): p. e00025.
- 113. Dadalko, O.I., M. Siuta, A. Poe, K. Erreger, H.J. Matthies, K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *mTORC2/rictor signaling disrupts dopamine-dependent behaviors via defects in striatal dopamine neurotransmission.* J Neurosci, 2015. **35**(23): p. 8843-54.
- 114. Huang, W., P.J. Zhu, S. Zhang, H. Zhou, L. Stoica, M. Galiano, K. Krnjevic, G. Roman, and M. Costa-Mattioli, *mTORC2 controls actin polymerization required for consolidation of long-term memory*. Nat Neurosci, 2013. **16**(4): p. 441-8.
- Fletcher, D.A. and R.D. Mullins, *Cell mechanics and the cytoskeleton*. Nature, 2010.
  463(7280): p. 485-92.
- 116. Tondeleir, D., J. Vandekerckhove, and C. Ampe, *Actin and Actin Filaments*. eLS, 2011: p. 1-11.
- 117. Cingolani, L.A. and Y. Goda, *Actin in action: the interplay between the actin cytoskeleton and synaptic efficacy.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2008. **9**(5): p. 344-56.
- 118. Carlier, M.F. and S. Shekhar, *Global treadmilling coordinates actin turnover and controls the size of actin networks*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2017. **18**(6): p. 389-401.
- 119. Hall, A., *Small GTP-binding proteins and the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton.* Annu Rev Cell Biol, 1994. **10**: p. 31-54.
- 120. Saneyoshi, T. and Y. Hayashi, *The Ca2+ and Rho GTPase signaling pathways underlying activity-dependent actin remodeling at dendritic spines*. Cytoskeleton (Hoboken), 2012. **69**(8): p. 545-54.
- 121. Sit, S.T. and E. Manser, *Rho GTPases and their role in organizing the actin cytoskeleton.* J Cell Sci, 2011. **124**(Pt 5): p. 679-83.
- Dietz, D.M., K.C. Dietz, E.J. Nestler, and S.J. Russo, *Molecular mechanisms of psychostimulant-induced structural plasticity*. Pharmacopsychiatry, 2009. 42 Suppl 1: p. S69-78.
- 123. Robinson, T.E. and B. Kolb, *Alterations in the morphology of dendrites and dendritic spines in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex following repeated treatment with amphetamine or cocaine*. Eur J Neurosci, 1999. **11**(5): p. 1598-604.

- 124. Bailey, C.H., E.R. Kandel, and K.M. Harris, *Structural Components of Synaptic Plasticity and Memory Consolidation*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2015. **7**(7): p. a021758.
- 125. Dietz, D.M., H. Sun, M.K. Lobo, M.E. Cahill, B. Chadwick, V. Gao, J.W. Koo, M.S. Mazei-Robison, C. Dias, I. Maze, D. Damez-Werno, K.C. Dietz, K.N. Scobie, D. Ferguson, D. Christoffel, Y. Ohnishi, G.E. Hodes, Y. Zheng, R.L. Neve, K.M. Hahn, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Rac1 is essential in cocaine-induced structural plasticity of nucleus accumbens neurons*. Nat Neurosci, 2012. **15**(6): p. 891-6.
- 126. Golden, S.A., D.J. Christoffel, M. Heshmati, G.E. Hodes, J. Magida, K. Davis, M.E. Cahill, C. Dias, E. Ribeiro, J.L. Ables, P.J. Kennedy, A.J. Robison, J. Gonzalez-Maeso, R.L. Neve, G. Turecki, S. Ghose, C.A. Tamminga, and S.J. Russo, *Epigenetic regulation of RAC1 induces synaptic remodeling in stress disorders and depression*. Nat Med, 2013. 19(3): p. 337-44.
- 127. Angliker, N. and M.A. Ruegg, *In vivo evidence for mTORC2-mediated actin cytoskeleton rearrangement in neurons*. Bioarchitecture, 2013. **3**(4): p. 113-8.

### **CHAPTER 2**

## Deletion of Rictor in Catecholaminergic Neurons Alters Locomotor Activity and Ingestive Behavior

Sophia Kaska, Rebecca Brunk, Vedrana Bali, Megan Kechner, Michelle S. Mazei-Robison.

Neuropharmacology, 2017, 117 (158-170)

#### Abstract

While the etiology of depression is not fully understood, increasing evidence from animal models suggests a role for the ventral tegmental area (VTA) in pathogenesis. In this paper, we investigate the potential role of VTA mechanistic target of rapamycin 2 (TORC2) signaling in mediating susceptibility to chronic social defeat stress (CSDS), a well-established mouse model of depression. Utilizing genetic and viral knockout of Rictor (rapamycin-insensitive companion of target of rapamycin), a requisite component of TORC2, we demonstrate that decreasing Rictor-dependent TORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic neurons, or within the VTA specifically, does not alter susceptibility to CSDS. Opiate abuse and mood disorders are often comorbid, and previous data demonstrate a role for VTA TORC2 in mediating opiate reward. Thus, we also investigated its potential role in mediating changes in opiate reward following CSDS. Catecholaminergic deletion of Rictor increases water, sucrose, and morphine intake but not preference in a two-bottle choice assay in stress-naïve mice, and these effects are maintained after stress. VTA-specific knockout of Rictor increases water and sucrose intake after physical CSDS, but does not alter consummatory behavior in the absence of stress. These findings suggest a novel role for TORC2 in mediating stress-induced changes in consummatory behaviors that may contribute to some aspects of mood disorders.

#### Introduction

Depression is a serious mental illness that induces a significant societal burden as a leading cause of disability [1] and is highly co-morbid with other disorders such as drug addiction [2, 3]. While the exact causes of depression remain elusive, a combination of factors, including stressful life events, are known to increase the likelihood of developing a major mood disorder [4]. Increasing evidence suggests a role for the dopamine reward circuit, and specifically activity of ventral tegmental area (VTA) dopamine neurons, in mediating susceptibility to chronic social defeat stress (CSDS), a rodent model of depression [5]. Moreover, CSDS also induces biochemical changes in the VTA, including decreased phosphorylation of AKT at Ser473 (pAKT), and preventing or mimicking this biochemical event is sufficient to rescue or induce CSDS susceptibility, suggesting changes in VTA AKT activity are behaviorally relevant [6]. Interestingly, VTA pAKT is also decreased in rats and mice treated chronically with morphine, and modulation of VTA AKT activity is sufficient to alter opiate reward, as measured by conditioned place preference (CPP) [7]. Together, these data suggest that alteration of VTA AKT phosphorylation plays a critical role in both mood disorders and drug reward.

AKT is phosphorylated at Ser473 by the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2 (TORC2) [8], and we have recently shown that altering TORC2 activity in the VTA is sufficient to induce changes in morphine reward [9]. Given the lack of a selective pharmacological inhibitor, we altered VTA TORC2 signaling via genetic deletion and viral-mediated overexpression of rapamycin-insensitive companion of TOR (Rictor), as this protein is a necessary component for TORC2 kinase activity. Global deletion of TORC2 is embryonically lethal [10], and thus floxed-Rictor mice have been developed and used in combination with Cre driver lines [11-14] or stereotaxic infusion of AAV-Cre in adult mice [9] to produce cell-type or

brain-region specific Rictor KO mice to allow examination of the role of TORC2 signaling *in vivo*. Recently, floxed-Rictor mice have been crossed to the tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-Cre reporter line to KO TORC2 signaling specifically from catecholaminergic neurons (TH-Rictor) [13]. TH-Rictor KO mice display an increase in novelty-induced locomotion compared to their wild-type controls, as well as an increase in lean and overall body mass, but with no reported difference in fat mass [13].

Given our data that VTA KO of Rictor was sufficient to modulate morphine reward, we sought to determine whether KO of Rictor in the VTA or in TH neurons would increase susceptibility to CSDS, as predicted by pAKT results. Further, we sought to determine whether VTA- or TH-Rictor KO mice would have altered morphine reward following CSDS. While data on morphine reward following CSDS is limited [15, 16], susceptible mice have increased cocaine CPP following CSDS [5] and social defeat stress also increases cocaine self-administration in both rats [15] and mice [17]. Thus, we assessed voluntary intake and preference for morphine using a two-bottle choice test. We found that while decreasing TORC2 signaling in either TH neurons or in the VTA does not increase susceptibility to CSDS, there were changes in consummatory behavior between Rictor KO mice and controls. Interestingly, whereas there were differences between TH- and VTA-Rictor KO prior to CSDS, all Rictor KO mice exhibited a similar phenotype post-CSDS. These data suggest that additional TORC2 substrates may exhibit competing effects to those of AKT in stress susceptibility and that behavioral outputs of TORC2 signaling may be dependent on subsets of catecholaminergic neurons.
#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Mice

All mice were housed at 22-25° C on a 12 hour light/dark cycle with food and water available ad libitum. Experiments utilized adult male and female mice (8-15 weeks). Homozygous floxed Rictor mice were generated as previously described [9-11], and were also crossed with heterozygous tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-Cre mice (Jackson Laboratories, 008601) to generate developmental Rictor knock-out (KO) mice (Dadalko et al., 2015a); all mice were fully backcrossed to the c57Bl/6 background. Mouse genotypes were verified at 21-28 days using standard procedures. Published primers to assess floxed-Rictor (5'- CCT GAG CAG TGC CCG ACT TCT CTA G-3' and 5'- CCT TTC GCA TCG CCA CTG CA-3') and TH-Cre (5'- GAT CTC CGG TAT TGA AAC TCC AGC-3' and 5'- GCT AAA CAT GCT TCA TCG TCG G-3') status were used. Of note, Cre-mediated deletion of Rictor using this floxed-Rictor line (via either AAV-Cre infusion or cross with Cre-driver line) has been shown to be sufficient to disrupt TORC2-mediated kinase activity as assessed by phosphorylation of AKT at Ser473 (Dadalko et al., 2015b; Mazei-Robison et al., 2011; Siuta et al., 2010). For social defeat stress studies, retired CD-1 male breeders (Charles River) were purchased and screened for aggressive behavior as described previously [18]. All experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Michigan State University.

#### Drugs

Morphine sulfate (generously provided by the NIDA Drug Supply Program) and quinine sulfate (Sigma) were dissolved in water for drinking studies.

#### Viral-mediated gene transfer

Stereotaxic surgeries were completed as previously described [9]. Briefly, mice were anesthetized (100 mg/kg ketamine, 10 mg/kg xylazine) and bilateral infusions (0.5  $\mu$ l) of AAV-GFP or AAV-Cre-GFP (UNC Vector Core) were targeted to the VTA (from bregma: -3.2 mm AP, +1.0 mm ML, and -4.6 mm DV, 7° angle). Mice were allowed to recover for  $\geq$ 14 days prior to behavioral testing to allow for Cre-mediated gene silencing and the degradation of all remaining Rictor in target cells.

#### Validation of Rictor deletion

<u>Viral targeting</u>: Following experimental testing, mice were perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde-PBS and brains were cryo-preserved in 30% sucrose-PBS. Brains were sectioned (30 µm) and bilateral VTA targeting was confirmed by GFP expression. The representative VTA targeting and viral expression shown in Fig 4A was generated using standard immunohistochemistry techniques to label GFP- (Life Technologies A11122, 1:3000) and TH-positive (Sigma, T1299, 1:3000) cells in the VTA [9]. Mice with GFP expression outside the VTA were not included in analyses.

Quantitative Real-Time (RT)-PCR: Rictor deletion was verified by RT-PCR using published procedures [9]. Briefly, VTA was microdissected from mice and stored at -80° C until processing. RNA was isolated and purified from VTA using Trizol and RNeasy microcolumns (Qiagen). Following reverse-transcription (Applied Biosystems), RNA levels were quantified by RT-PCR using the ΔΔCt method and GAPDH as a normalization control, and all analyses were performed in triplicate. All primers were previously validated: Rictor: 5'-ATG GCG GCG ATC GGC CGC G-3' and 5'-GAT ACT CCT TGC AAT TTG GCC ACA-3'; GAPDH: 5'- AGG TCG GTG TGA ACG GAT TTG-3' and 5'- TGT AGA CCA TGT AGT TGA GGT CA-3'; Cre:

5'- CCC GGC AAA ACA GGT AGT TA-3' and 5'- GAA CGA AAA CGC TGG TTA GC-3' [9, 19].

#### Chronic social defeat stress (CSDS)

CSDS was performed as previously described [18]. Briefly, male control and Rictor KO mice were subjected to a brief daily physical encounter in the home-cage of an aggressive CD-1 retired breeder followed by sensory contact for the following 24 hours via a perforated plexiglass partition. Non-stress controls were handled and housed across from a novel c57Bl6 mouse daily. Following the 10<sup>th</sup> defeat episode, mice were singly housed. A variant of CSDS that utilizes a purely psychological stressor, witness or emotional stress, was also performed as previously described [20]. Emotional CSDS was performed as described above, with the exception that a second experimental mouse was placed on the opposite side of the plexiglass partition during the physical encounter allowing this mouse to witness physical social defeat stress.

#### **Behavioral overview**

Behavioral characterization was completed ≥14 days following surgery to allow time for Cremediated gene silencing. Mice were 8-14 weeks of age and were weighed before, during, and following behavioral testing. All tests were completed during the light cycle under red light illumination and video-tracking software (Clever Systems Top Scan) was used for quantification. For cohorts of mice that underwent the entire battery of baseline behaviors, the order of testing was open field, elevated plus maze, then social interaction testing to minimize exposure effects; each completed on a different day.

<u>Social interaction:</u> Social interaction was assessed as previously described [18]. Mice were placed in a 38 cm x 38 cm arena for two-2.5 min. test sessions, with a CD-1 target mouse absent, then present in a plexiglass and mesh cylinder. Time spent in the interaction zone (7.5 cm

surrounding the cylinder) and corners was measured, along with distance traveled. The social interaction (SI) ratio was calculated as time spent in the interaction zone with target present/time spent with target absent \*100. Susceptibility to CSDS was defined as an SI ratio <100 [5]. <u>Open Field:</u> Mice were placed in a 38cm x 38cm arena and distance traveled and time spent in the center and periphery in the 10 min. test session were assessed.

<u>Elevated plus maze</u>: Mice were placed in the center of a 5cm x 35cm plus maze. Distance traveled, time spent in open and closed arms, and entries into open and closed arms were assessed during the 5 min. test session.

<u>Two-bottle choice voluntary intake:</u> Mice were singly housed and had access to two 50 ml conical tubes with sipper tops in their home cage. Throughout the experiment, bottles were weighed at the same time each morning, bottle location was switched daily, and consumption was determined by the volume of fluid intake. Prior to sucrose or morphine preference, baseline water intake was measured for 2-3 days. For sucrose preference and consumption, mice had access to bottles containing water and 1% sucrose for 4 days. For morphine preference and consumption, morphine sulfate or quinine sulfate (taste control for morphine) were dissolved in 0.2% sucrose based on prior studies [21-23]. Bottles for male mice contained 0.06 mg/ml quinine and 0.3 mg/ml morphine and bottles for female mice contained 0.01 mg/ml quinine and 0.05 mg/ml morphine.

#### **Statistics**

All values are reported as mean +/- SEM. Graph Pad Prism was used to perform all statistical analyses. Unpaired t-tests were used to compare groups of two. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare groups of three, followed by a Tukey post-hoc test, when appropriate. Two way ANOVA was used to compare groups with two independent variables

(factors), followed by Tukey post-hoc test when appropriate. Differences were considered significant when p<0.05.

#### Results

# TH-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit baseline differences in anxiety- and depressive-like behavior

To determine whether developmental KO of Rictor in TH cells influences anxiety-like behavior, we first assessed performance in the elevated plus maze (EPM). Heterozygous or homozygous deletion of Rictor in male mice did not affect their time spent in the open arm compared to littermate controls (Fig 4A). Similarly, there was no significant difference in open arm time observed between female TH-Rictor-KO mice and littermate controls. We next completed open field (OF) testing and determined the time spent in the center as a second measure of anxiety-like behavior (Fig 4B). There were no significant differences in center time between male TH-Rictor KO mice and their littermate controls, nor were there differences in female mice. Together, these data suggest that deletion of Rictor in TH cells does not affect baseline anxiety-like behavior.

During OF testing, we also assessed general locomotor activity (Fig 4C). We found that the total distance traveled was significantly increased in male homozygous TH-Rictor KO mice compared to heterozygous TH-Rictor KO mice and littermate controls (F(2,75)=5.1, p=0.008, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05), however this effect was not observed in female mice. This difference in activity may be partially explained by the fact that the total activity of female mice, regardless of genotype, was greater than that of males (Two-way ANOVA, Sex factor F(1,81)=17.9, p<0.0001). The increase in baseline locomotor activity in male homozygous Rictor-TH KO mice is consistent with published data (Dadalko et al., 2015a), however female mice were not examined in the previous study.



**Figure 4**: **Evaluation of anxiety-like baseline behaviors in stress naïve TH-Rictor-KO mice.** There were no statistical differences in anxiety-like behaviors including time spent in the open arms of the EPM test (A: male: CON=6, HET=10, KO=10; female: CON=15, KO=11) or center time in the OF test (B: male: CON=18, HET=36, KO=22; female: CON=20, KO=12) between control, heterozygous, or homozygous male (left) or female (right) TH-Rictor-KO mice. Homozygous male TH-Rictor-KO mice exhibited increased locomotor activity in the OF test compared to controls (CON=19, HET=36, KO=23), but this difference was not observed in female Rictor-KO-mice (CON=28, KO=15) (C), \*p<0.05, n=6-36 mice/group, individual data points shown. Given that modulation of VTA AKT activity, a TORC2/Rictor substrate, alters social interaction (SI) following CSDS, we next sought to determine whether TH-Rictor KO mice had any baseline differences in social interaction (Fig 5A). We found that SI scores did not differ between either male or female TH-Rictor KO mice and their control littermates. Additionally, we found no differences in locomotor activity during SI testing (males: Con: 6729 +/- 735, Het: 5842 +/- 352, Homo: 7397 +/- 731, p>0.05 and females Con: 9640 +/- 519, KO: 10,559 +/- 427, p>0.05), suggesting that the hyperlocomotion of male TH-Rictor mice may be abrogated in the presence of environmental stimuli, in this case an empty wire mesh enclosure.

As another indicator of depressive-like behavior, we examined sucrose preference using a two-bottle choice test (Fig 5B). Neither male nor female TH-Rictor mice exhibited significant differences in preference for a 1% sucrose solution compared to control mice, suggesting TH-Rictor KO does not induce anhedonia in the absence of stress. However, while there were no significant differences in sucrose preference, we found that TH-Rictor KO mice drank a greater volume of the sucrose solution (Fig 5C). This effect was significant for homozygous male TH-Rictor KO mice compared to heterozygous and wild-type littermates (F(2,31)=5.96, p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc test, p < 0.05) and a similar non-significant trend was observed in female TH-Rictor KO mice (t(19)=1.8, p=0.08). This drove a significant increase in the total volume of liquid consumed (sucrose + water) by TH-Rictor KO mice (Con: 7.27 +/- 0.23, Het: 7.83 +/-0.19, Homo:  $9.50 \pm -0.59$ ; F(2,31)=8.94, p<0.001, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.01), and it appears that sucrose preference was not altered because water intake was also significantly increased (Con: 1.08 +/- 0.09, Het: 1.60 +/- 0.15, Homo: 1.59 +/- 0.10; F(2,31)=4.83, p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05 from Controls, Het not significantly different from Homo). Together, these data suggest that while TH-Rictor KO mice do not exhibit baseline depressive-like behavior,



**Figure 5: Evaluation of depressive-related behaviors in stress naïve TH-Rictor-KO mice.** There were no statistical differences in social interaction (A: male: CON=9, HET=14, KO=12; female: CON=18, KO=10) or sucrose preference (B: male: CON=9, HET=14, KO=11; female: CON=11, KO=12) between control, heterozygous, or homozygous male (left) or female (right) TH-Rictor-KO mice. Homozygous male TH-Rictor-KO mice drank significantly more sucrose solution than heterozygous TH-Rictor-KO mice and controls (CON=9, HET=14, KO=11), with a similar non-significant trend observed in female TH-Rictor-KO mice (CON=10, KO=11) (C), \*p<0.05, +p=0.08, n=9-18 mice/group, individual data points shown.

they do display sex-specific differences in general locomotor behavior and voluntary fluid intake.

#### TH-Rictor-KO mice have higher levels of voluntary fluid intake

To further explore this difference in voluntary fluid intake, we examined water intake in a two-bottle choice test where both bottles contain water. Consistent with our sucrose data, we found that male homozygous TH-Rictor KO mice drank significantly more water than heterozygous and wild-type littermates (Fig 6A, F(2,40)=4.725, p=0.0144, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05). Interestingly, when we examined female TH-Rictor KO, we did not observe any differences in water intake from controls (Fig. 6A, p>0.05), in contrast to increased water intake in male TH-Rictor-KO mice, and the trend for increased sucrose intake in female TH-Rictor KO mice.

Given that Rictor KO in the VTA via AAV-Cre infusion is sufficient to decrease morphine reward as measured by CPP [9], we next decided to measure voluntary morphine consumption and preference using the two-bottle choice test in TH-Rictor KO mice. Similar to the sucrose preference results, we found that both male and female TH-Rictor KO mice exhibit similar morphine preference to littermate controls (Fig 6B). However, when we examined morphine intake in these mice, we found that both male and female TH-Rictor-KO mice had significantly elevated intake compared to controls (Figure 6C, Male: F(2,40)=5.31, p=0.009; Female: t(19)=2.74, p=0.013, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05). Quinine solution intake was not significantly different between TH-Rictor KO and control mice (Male: Con: 0.89 +/- 0.10, Het: 0.95 +/- 0.10, Homo: 0.98 +/- 0.10; Female: Con: 1.69 +/- 0.24, KO: 1.91 +/- 0.18), which likely contributed to the lack of an overall effect on morphine preference. Together, these data suggest



**Figure 6: Evaluation of water and morphine consumption in stress naïve TH-Cre mice.** Male TH-Rictor-KO mice drank more water (A: CON=11, HET=18, KO=14) and morphine solution (C: CON=11, HET=18, KO=14) compared to controls, with no difference in morphine preference (B: CON=11, HET=18, KO=14). Female TH-Rictor-KO mice did not drink more water than controls (A: CON=10, KO=11) but did drink more morphine solution (C: CON=10, KO=11), with no difference morphine preference (B; CON=10, KO=11), with no difference morphine preference (B; CON=10, KO=11), \*p<0.05, n=10-18 mice/group, individual data points shown.

that TH-Rictor-KO mice have increased voluntary fluid intake, and that this effect is more pronounced in male mice, which exhibit significantly increased intake of water, sucrose, and morphine solutions.

#### VTA-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit any differences in baseline behaviors

In order to determine whether the differences we observed in locomotor activity and fluid consumption in TH-Rictor-KO mice were consistent with changes in TORC2 signaling in the VTA, we generated VTA-specific KO mice (VTA-Rictor-KO) via AAV-Cre infusion into the VTA of floxed-Rictor mice. These mice have significantly decreased Rictor mRNA expression in VTA compared to AAV-GFP infused controls (Fig 7A, t(9)=3.65, p=0.005), however this effect is not genetically limited to TH-positive cells in the VTA, and Rictor KO may thus occur in any transduced VTA cells, including GABAergic, dopaminergic, or others.

We first examined VTA-Rictor-KO mice using the same measures of anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors used for TH-Rictor-KO mice. Similar to TH-Rictor-KO mice, we found no significant difference between VTA-Rictor-KO mice and their GFP controls during EPM testing (Fig 7B). Center time in the OF testing was also similar between VTA-Rictor-KO mice and controls (Fig 7C), suggesting that Rictor KO in VTA does not alter baseline anxiety. In contrast to male TH-Rictor-KO mice, we found that male VTA-Rictor-KO mice did not display increased locomotor activity compared to controls (Fig 7D). Similarly, there were no differences in locomotor activity between female VTA-Rictor-KO mice and their GFP controls (Fig 7D). These data suggest that changes in locomotor activity in male TH-Rictor-KO mice may be driven by brain regions other than VTA, such as substantia nigra, whose dopaminergic cells project to and modulate motor-oriented dorsal striatum neurons.



**Figure 7: Evaluation of baseline behaviors in stress-naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice.** AAV-Cre significantly decreased VTA Rictor expression (A). Knockdown of Rictor using AAV-Cre did not alter anxiety-like behavior in EPM (B: male: GFP=9, CRE=11; female: GFP=11, CRE=8) or OF (C: male: GFP=9, CRE=12; female: GFP=11, CRE=8) testing in either male (left) or female (right) mice. Locomotor activity in the OF test was also similar between AAV-Rictor-KO mice and controls (D: male: GFP=10, CRE=12; female: GFP=11, CRE=8), \*\*p<0.01, n=8-12 mice/group, individual data points shown.



**Figure 8: Evaluation of depressive-related behaviors in stress naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice.** There were no significant differences in social interaction (A: male: GFP=4, CRE=7; female: GFP=11, CRE=9), sucrose preference (B: male: GFP=3, CRE=5; female: GFP=17, CRE=17), or volume of sucrose intake (C: male: GFP=3, CRE=5; female: GFP=17, CRE=17) between male (left) or female (right) AAV-Rictor-KO mice and GFP controls, n=3-17 mice/group, individual data points shown.

We next examined social interaction and found no significant differences between VTA-Rictor KO mice and GFP controls (Fig 8A). Sucrose preference was also similar between VTA-Rictor KO mice and GFP controls (Fig 8B), consistent with data from TH-Rictor-KO mice that baseline depressive-like behaviors are unaltered by Rictor KO.

#### VTA-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit any differences in voluntary fluid intake

In contrast to TH-Rictor-KO mice, there was no significant difference in the volume of sucrose consumed for either male or female VTA-Rictor-KO mice compared to controls (Fig 8C). Additionally, VTA-Rictor-KO mice do not exhibit increased water intake from GFP controls (Fig 9A). Finally, we found no differences in morphine preference (Fig 9B), volume of morphine consumed (Fig 9C), or quinine consumed (data not shown), in male or female VTA-Rictor-KO mice. Together, these data suggest that VTA-Rictor-KO is not sufficient to alter voluntary fluid intake

#### TH-Rictor-KO mice are not more susceptible to physical or emotional CSDS

Given previous data that decreasing VTA AKT activity increased susceptibility to physical CSDS [6], we sought to determine whether decreasing TORC2 signaling, thereby decreasing AKT phosphorylation and activity, would also increase susceptibility to CSDS. We exposed male TH-Rictor-KO mice and littermate controls to standard 10-day physical and emotional CSDS [18, 24]. As expected, male mice that underwent physical CSDS had significantly reduced SI scores compared to controls (Fig 10A). However, while TH-Rictor-KO mice and their wild type controls subjected to physical CSDS had SI scores significantly lower than their non-stressed controls (Fig 10A: F(5,48)=7.18, p=0.0001), there was no significant difference in SI scores between physical CSDS groups, nor was there an increase in the number of mice susceptible to stress in the KO group (SI scores <100, wt = 5/7, KO = 7/12). We also



**Figure 9: Evaluation of water and morphine consumption in stress naïve AAV-Rictor-KO mice.** Knockdown of VTA TORC2 signaling did not alter water intake (A: male: GFP=8, CRE=9; female: GFP=17, CRE=17), morphine preference (B: male: GFP=3, CRE=5; female: GFP=17, CRE=16) or morphine intake (C: male: GFP=3, CRE=5; female: GFP=17, CRE=16) in either male or female mice compared to GFP controls, n=3-17 mice/group, individual data points shown.

assessed the impact of emotional CSDS, as this model of chronic stress induces a more subtle phenotype on day 11, allowing us to uncover even a weak effect of TH-Rictor-KO on susceptibility to stress. Mice exposed to emotional CSDS had SI ratios closer to 100, but there were no differences between TH-Rictor-KO mice and wild type controls (Fig 10A). These data suggest that decreasing TORC2 signaling in TH neurons does not increase susceptibility to physical and emotional CSDS.

#### VTA-Rictor-KO mice are not more susceptible to physical CSDS

To allow direct comparison to the previous VTA AKT study [6], we also subjected VTA-Rictor-KO mice and GFP controls to physical CSDS. While mice that underwent physical CSDS had decreased SI scores compared to non-stressed controls, there was no difference between VTA-Rictor-KO mice and GFP controls (Fig 11A), again suggesting that decreasing TORC2 signaling in VTA neurons does not increase susceptibility to physical CSDS.

#### Physical CSDS increases voluntary fluid intake of TH-Rictor-KO and VTA-Rictor-KO mice

Following SI testing, two-bottle choice testing was completed to assess water, sucrose, and morphine intake. Male TH-Rictor-KO mice that underwent physical CSDS exhibited a significant increase in water consumption compared to both unstressed controls and physical CSDS wild type mice (Fig 10B, F(5,47)=5.09, p=0.0008, one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05). However, this effect was not evident in TH-Rictor-KO mice exposed to emotional CSDS (Fig 10B). Similarly, TH-Rictor-KO mice that underwent physical CSDS exhibited increased sucrose intake compared to wild-type controls (Fig 10C, F(5,45)=4.17, p=0.003, one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05). Finally, morphine consumption was significantly increased in TH-Rictor-KO mice exposed to physical, but not emotional CSDS (Fig 10D, F(5,45)=9.35, p=0.0001, one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05).



**Figure 10: Evaluation of susceptibility of TH-Rictor-KO mice to physical and emotional CSDS and post-stress consumption of water, sucrose, and morphine solutions.** Physical CSDS significantly decreased social interaction (SI) of both TH-Rictor-KO (n=12) and control mice (n=7), but there was no difference between genotypes (A; non-stressed controls: CON=12, KO=10). Exposure to emotional stress did not significantly alter SI (CON=7, KO=6). TH-Rictor-KO mice exposed to physical CSDS had significantly increased water (B: Non-stressed controls: CON=12, KO=10; Physical: CON=7, KO=12; Emotional: CON=6, KO=6), sucrose (C: Nonstressed controls: CON=12, KO=10; Physical: CON=7, KO=12; Emotional: CON=5, KO=5), and morphine (D: Non-stressed controls: CON=11, KO=10; Physical: CON=7, KO=11; Emotional: CON=5, KO=5) intake compared to control mice exposed to physical CSDS and non-stressed controls. No significant differences in consumption were observed in TH-Rictor-KO mice exposed to emotional CSDS, \*p<0.05, n=6-12 mice/group, individual data points shown.



**Figure 11: Evaluation of susceptibility of AAV-Rictor-KO mice to physical CSDS and poststress consumption of water, sucrose, and morphine solutions.** Physical CSDS generally decreased SI score but did not result in a significant differences between AAV-Rictor-KO mice and their GFP controls (A: Non-stressed controls: CON=6, KO=7; Physical Stress: CON=6, KO=7). Exposure to physical CSDS increased water (B: Non-stressed controls: CON=6, KO=7; Physical Stress: CON=6, KO=5) and sucrose (C: Non-stressed controls: CON=4, KO=5; Physical Stress: CON=6, KO=5) intake in AAV-Rictor-KO mice compared to AAV-GFP controls, while morphine intake was not significantly increased (D: Non-stressed controls: CON=6, KO=7; Physical Stress: CON=6, KO=5), \*p<0.05, n=4-7 mice/group, individual data points shown. We also examined the drinking behavior of VTA-Rictor-KO mice after exposure to physical CSDS. While there was no difference in water intake between non-stressed VTA-Rictor-KO mice and GFP controls, VTA-Rictor-KO mice exposed to physical CSDS drank significantly more water than physically stressed GFP controls (Fig 11B, F(3,20)=4.46, p=0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc test). Similarly, VTA-Rictor-KO mice exposed to physical stress consumed more sucrose than non-stressed mice (Fig 11C, F(3,16)=3.54, p=0.04, one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test, p<0.05). Finally, a similar trend for increased morphine consumption by VTA-Rictor-KO mice exposed to physical CSDS was observed (Fig 11D), but this did not reach statistical significance (p>0.05).

#### Discussion

Molecular and behavioral studies have identified VTA AKT activity as a mediator of susceptibility to stress, as overexpression of catalytically inactive AKT was shown to increase susceptibility to sub-chronic stress and increasing expression rescued CSDS-induced social avoidance [6]. Since TORC2 modulates AKT via Ser473 phosphorylation, and abrogation of phosphorylation at this site is sufficient to decrease AKT's ability to phosphorylate substrates such as Fox01/3a [25, 26], our goal was to determine if decreasing VTA TORC2 signaling was sufficient to increase susceptibility to CSDS. Because similar decreases in VTA AKT activity are observed following chronic opiate exposure and CSDS, we also investigated morphine intake after CSDS to determine the effect of decreasing TORC2 signaling on morphine reward and ingestive behavior.

We found that decreasing VTA TORC2 activity, either in catecholaminergic cells or specifically in the VTA, does not increase susceptibility to physical or emotional CSDS. One possible reason for the difference in the current findings from those that investigated AKT directly is that decreasing phosphorylation of AKT at Ser473 is not the same as overexpressing an AKT mutant form (K174M) that eliminates all catalytic activity. For example, in the current studies even though AKT is not phosphorylated at Ser473, it can be phosphorylated at other sites (such as Thr308, by PDK [11]), as well as interact with binding partners. Although studies indicate that AKT phosphorylation at Ser473 is necessary for full catalytic activation [8], it is possible that in our studies residual AKT activity is sufficient to mediate normal behavioral responses. For example, Rictor- or Sin1-deficient murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) display a loss of phosphorylation of AKT Ser473 while retaining some phosphorylation of AKT Thr308, and while *in vitro* AKT kinase activity is decreased to 10-15% of control cells, phosphorylation

of the AKT substrate FOXO3 is significantly decreased while phosphorylation of GSK3B and TSC2 are not, suggesting AKT Ser473 and Thr308 phosphorylation might differentially impact substrate phosphorylation [25, 26]. Moreover, such substrate-selective effects may underlie different neuropsychiatric disorders, as Ser473 phosphorylation is linked to schizophrenia-associated symptoms in mouse models and human lymphocytes [11, 27, 28]. Additionally, while TORC2 controls the phosphorylation of AKT Ser473, it also phosphorylates other substrates, including other AGC kinases [29]. Thus, KO of TORC2 activity could be influencing activity of other substrates whose actions normally oppose those of AKT.

While Rictor KO mice were not more susceptible to CSDS, they did exhibit some baseline differences in behavior and these differed between the two Rictor KO models we employed. In our developmental model, Rictor expression is eliminated from neurons that express tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme in dopamine synthesis. While this does decrease TORC2 signaling in the VTA, a brain region with a high concentration of THpositive dopamine neurons, one caveat of this model is that it also decreases TORC2 signaling in other brain regions with a high proportion of DA neurons such as the substantia nigra, as well as those containing noradrenergic neurons such as the locus coeruleus. Thus, we also used Creexpressing viral vectors to specifically target the VTA, but in this model TORC2 signaling is likely decreased in all subtypes of VTA neurons (GABAergic, glutamatergic and dopaminergic). Additionally, while Rictor expression is significantly decreased in this model (~50%, Fig 4A) and is sufficient to induce morphological and behavioral effects in mice [9], there still exists a population of cells with intact TORC2 signaling that could impact results.

We found that male developmental Rictor knockouts (TH-Rictor-KO) had increased locomotor activity compared to control littermates, consistent with previous data [13].

Interestingly, we did not observe any difference in locomotor activity in VTA-Rictor-KO mice. This difference could suggest that decreased TORC2 signaling in a catecholaminergic region outside the VTA, such as the substantia nigra, drives increased locomotor activity. However, a similar increase in novelty-induced locomotor activity has been observed in forebrain-specific Rictor KO mice (Nestin-Cre x flox-Rictor), which suggests TORC2 signaling in neurons that influence locomotor output centers such as the striatum is also sufficient to alter locomotor activity [12]. It is also possible that the altered locomotor response is developmentally regulated, as locomotor results have been consistently noted in crosses with various Cre lines, but Rictor KO in VTA of adult mice was not sufficient to alter morphine-induced locomotor activity [9]. However, local Rictor KO in striatum was sufficient to increase AMPH-induced locomotor activity [12], suggesting that alteration of TORC2 activity in adult mice, and its associated changes in dopaminergic signaling, can be sufficient to change locomotor behavior. Interestingly, we found that the increase in locomotor activity was limited to male TH-Rictor-KO mice, as female TH-Rictor-KO mice did not differ from their controls. This was surprising, but given that all prior studies utilized only male mice, the possibility of sex differences in TORC2related behaviors was unexplored. One possibility is that we failed to see an increase in locomotor activity because females had higher overall rates of activity than males (Fig. 4C). However, given that higher rates of locomotor activity than those we observed are possible for female mice, as in psychostimulant studies, it is unlikely that a ceiling effect is the sole cause of this difference. Our sex-specific difference in locomotor activity could inform other behaviors, as one method to investigate individual differences in neuropsychiatric-related behaviors is to categorize rodents as "high" or "low" responders based on locomotor activity in a novel environment. This novelty-induced locomotion has been found to correlate with a variety of

traits including learning, anxiety, and drug reward [30-32]. However, most of the studies to date have only examined the correlation of novelty-induced locomotor response with other behaviors in male mice, so little is known about whether differences in novelty-induced locomotor activity are similarly predictive in females. A recent study attempted to address this question in mice, and while they didn't find any differences in the median locomotor activity or center time between males and females, they found by principal component analysis that male behavior on a battery of tests was explained by locomotion-related variables while anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors accounted for more of the variance in the females [31]. Thus, TORC2-dependent changes in locomotor activity may be expected to alter other behavioral phenotypes in a sexdependent manner. We did not observe any sex-specific differences in the other baseline behaviors (EPM, FST), but future studies that examine differences in male vs. female TH-Rictor-KO responses to acute or chronic stress, or fear-related learning, may offer additional insights into whether changes in locomotor activity predict sex-specific phenotypes. Our findings suggest that there is a critical need to explore behavioral traits and the impact of altered neuronal signaling in both male and female mice, as the predictions made between assays may not correlate between the sexes. Future studies should delve further into this locomotor phenotype, including whether this difference is also apparent in the home cage or whether it is restricted to novel environments, and investigate the interplay between neuroendocrine and TORC2 signaling.

We also observed differences between male TH-Rictor-KO mice and VTA-Rictor KO mice in fluid consumption. At baseline, male TH-Rictor-KO mice consume more fluids (water, sucrose, or morphine) than their control littermates, while VTA-Rictor-KO mice are similar to GFP controls. The changes in ingestive behavior appeared more prominent when rewarding

substances like sucrose and morphine were available, for example TH-Rictor KO mice exhibited 116% water intake of wild-type controls, but 127% and 122% of sucrose and morphine, respectively. However, there is not a concomitant increase in sucrose or morphine preference, suggesting that the increased consumption is not driven by a difference in reward or palatability. One possibility is that the increased fluid intake is a result of the increased locomotor activity, given that both the activity and intake increases are found in the male TH-Rictor-KO mice, but not the VTA-Rictor-KO mice. However, we also found that female TH-Rictor-KO mice consumed more fluid than controls in sucrose and morphine choice experiments, and these mice did not exhibit increased locomotor activity. Moreover, while it was not formally investigated in this study, we did not observe any differences in consumption of normal chow in either male or female TH-Rictor-KO mice (data not shown), consistent with prior data from male TH-Rictor-KO mice [13], suggesting that there is not a global change in consummatory behavior. It is also possible that the mice are not actually ingesting the fluid, but exhibit increased interactions/manipulation of the sipper tops that results in increased fluid leaking from the bottles. We think this is unlikely based on our observations that the proportions of water and rewarding substance consumed are consistent from day to day, even as the bottle location is alternated, suggesting that animals are making a similar choice/activity at bottles throughout the experiment. Thus, the mechanism underlying increased fluid consumption in TH-Rictor-KO mice remains obscure. It is possible that the effect could be driven by signaling effects in noradrenergic cells (either central or peripheral), a hypothesis that could be tested by crossing the floxed-Rictor mice to norepinephrine transporter (NET)-Cre mice. However, given that we see a similar increase in fluid intake in VTA-Rictor-KO mice following stress, a region that lacks NE neurons, it suggests that there is also a role for VTA DA neuronal effects.

While neither TH-Rictor-KO nor VTA-Rictor-KO exhibited increased susceptibility to stress, exposure to physical stress increased fluid intake in both models. Since physical stress exposure induced increased intake in VTA-Rictor-KO mice that were unaffected at baseline, this suggests that Rictor KO mice do have altered responses to stress, albeit without changes in social avoidance. Similar to the baseline TH-Rictor-KO mice data, the stress-induced change in fluid intake was not accompanied by a concomitant increase in preference, suggesting changes in reward were not responsible. These data were somewhat surprising as we have previously found that VTA-Rictor-KO mice exhibited decreased morphine reward as assessed by conditioned place preference assay [9]. Thus, we predicted that in the baseline state, Rictor KO mice would exhibit a decrease in morphine preference in the two-bottle choice assay. Given the differences in the route of morphine administration between the two studies (voluntary vs. experimenter), it may be that KO of Rictor in VTA is sufficient to alter association of the relatively high dose of morphine in CPP studies to a context, but is not sufficient to alter the motivation to obtain a lower morphine dose in the two-bottle task. In contrast to exposure to physical stress, emotional stress did not alter fluid intake in Rictor KO mice. This difference might be due to the magnitude of the stress exposure, as the social avoidance phenotype incubates in emotional stress mice, with a small effect 1 day post-stress that then becomes indistinguishable from physical stress mice 28 days later [20].

Overall, these studies reveal that disruption of TORC2 signaling, either in catecholaminergic neurons or specifically within the VTA, does not influence susceptibility to CSDS-induced social avoidance. Instead, these experiments reveal a novel role for TORC2 signaling in mediating changes in activity and fluid intake that appear linked to stress responses. Further, given differences between the two models, our work demonstrates that it will be critical

in future studies to evaluate the specific functions of TORC2 signaling within DA versus NE neurons, their potential developmental contributions, and the role of sex in both baseline and stress-induced behaviors.

## Acknowledgements, Funding, and Disclosure

We would like to thank Ken Moon for excellent technical assistance and AJ Robison and Andrew Eagle for helpful discussion. The authors have no financial interests or conflicts of interest to disclose. This work was funded by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (R01 DA039895 and R03 DA037426, MMR) and graduate fellowships from the PhRMA foundation and the National Institute of General Medical Sciences (T32 GM092715, SK), with no direct input on the design, conduct, analysis or publication of the studies. We would also like to thank the NIDA Drug Supply Program for generously providing morphine. REFERENCES

### REFERENCES

- 1. Ferrari, A.J., F.J. Charlson, R.E. Norman, S.B. Patten, G. Freedman, C.J. Murray, T. Vos, and H.A. Whiteford, *Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010.* PLoS Med, 2013. **10**(11): p. e1001547.
- 2. Swendsen, J.D. and K.R. Merikangas, *The comorbidity of depression and substance use disorders*. Clin Psychol Rev, 2000. **20**(2): p. 173-89.
- 3. Volkow, N.D., *The reality of comorbidity: depression and drug abuse*. Biol Psychiatry, 2004. **56**(10): p. 714-7.
- 4. Shapero, B.G., S.K. Black, R.T. Liu, J. Klugman, R.E. Bender, L.Y. Abramson, and L.B. Alloy, *Stressful life events and depression symptoms: the effect of childhood emotional abuse on stress reactivity.* J Clin Psychol, 2014. **70**(3): p. 209-23.
- Krishnan, V., M.H. Han, D.L. Graham, O. Berton, W. Renthal, S.J. Russo, Q. Laplant, A. Graham, M. Lutter, D.C. Lagace, S. Ghose, R. Reister, P. Tannous, T.A. Green, R.L. Neve, S. Chakravarty, A. Kumar, A.J. Eisch, D.W. Self, F.S. Lee, C.A. Tamminga, D.C. Cooper, H.K. Gershenfeld, and E.J. Nestler, *Molecular adaptations underlying susceptibility and resistance to social defeat in brain reward regions*. Cell, 2007. 131(2): p. 391-404.
- Krishnan, V., M.H. Han, M. Mazei-Robison, S.D. Iniguez, J.L. Ables, V. Vialou, O. Berton, S. Ghose, H.E. Covington, 3rd, M.D. Wiley, R.P. Henderson, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, C.A. Tamminga, S.J. Russo, C.A. Bolanos, and E.J. Nestler, *AKT signaling within the ventral tegmental area regulates cellular and behavioral responses to stressful stimuli*. Biol Psychiatry, 2008. 64(8): p. 691-700.
- 7. Russo, S.J., C.A. Bolanos, D.E. Theobald, N.A. DeCarolis, W. Renthal, A. Kumar, C.A. Winstanley, N.E. Renthal, M.D. Wiley, D.W. Self, D.S. Russell, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, and E.J. Nestler, *IRS2-Akt pathway in midbrain dopamine neurons regulates behavioral and cellular responses to opiates*. Nat Neurosci, 2007. **10**(1): p. 93-9.
- 8. Sarbassov, D.D., D.A. Guertin, S.M. Ali, and D.M. Sabatini, *Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex*. Science, 2005. **307**(5712): p. 1098-101.
- 9. Mazei-Robison, M.S., J.W. Koo, A.K. Friedman, C.S. Lansink, A.J. Robison, M. Vinish, V. Krishnan, S. Kim, M.A. Siuta, A. Galli, K.D. Niswender, R. Appasani, M.C. Horvath, R.L. Neve, P.F. Worley, S.H. Snyder, Y.L. Hurd, J.F. Cheer, M.H. Han, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Role for mTOR signaling and neuronal activity in morphine-induced adaptations in ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons.* Neuron, 2011. **72**(6): p. 977-90.

- 10. Shiota, C., J.T. Woo, J. Lindner, K.D. Shelton, and M.A. Magnuson, *Multiallelic disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability*. Dev Cell, 2006. **11**(4): p. 583-9.
- Siuta, M.A., S.D. Robertson, H. Kocalis, C. Saunders, P.J. Gresch, V. Khatri, C. Shiota, J.P. Kennedy, C.W. Lindsley, L.C. Daws, D.B. Polley, J. Veenstra-Vanderweele, G.D. Stanwood, M.A. Magnuson, K.D. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Dysregulation of the norepinephrine transporter sustains cortical hypodopaminergia and schizophrenia-like behaviors in neuronal rictor null mice*. PLoS Biol, 2010. 8(6): p. e1000393.
- 12. Dadalko, O.I., M. Siuta, A. Poe, K. Erreger, H.J. Matthies, K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *mTORC2/rictor signaling disrupts dopamine-dependent behaviors via defects in striatal dopamine neurotransmission.* J Neurosci, 2015. **35**(23): p. 8843-54.
- 13. Dadalko, O.I., K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Impaired mTORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic neurons exaggerates high fat diet-induced hyperphagia*. Heliyon, 2015. **1**(1): p. e00025.
- Thomanetz, V., N. Angliker, D. Cloetta, R.M. Lustenberger, M. Schweighauser, F. Oliveri, N. Suzuki, and M.A. Ruegg, *Ablation of the mTORC2 component rictor in brain or Purkinje cells affects size and neuron morphology*. J Cell Biol, 2013. 201(2): p. 293-308.
- 15. Covington, H.E., 3rd and K.A. Miczek, *Repeated social-defeat stress, cocaine or morphine. Effects on behavioral sensitization and intravenous cocaine self-administration "binges"*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 2001. **158**(4): p. 388-98.
- 16. Vivian, J.A. and K.A. Miczek, *Interactions between social stress and morphine in the periaqueductal gray: effects on affective vocal and reflexive pain responses in rats.* Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1999. **146**(2): p. 153-61.
- 17. Han, X., L. Albrechet-Souza, M.R. Doyle, A. Shimamoto, J.F. DeBold, and K.A. Miczek, *Social stress and escalated drug self-administration in mice II. Cocaine and dopamine in the nucleus accumbens.* Psychopharmacology (Berl), 2015. **232**(6): p. 1003-10.
- 18. Golden, S.A., H.E. Covington, 3rd, O. Berton, and S.J. Russo, *A standardized protocol for repeated social defeat stress in mice*. Nat Protoc, 2011. **6**(8): p. 1183-91.
- Berton, O., C.A. McClung, R.J. Dileone, V. Krishnan, W. Renthal, S.J. Russo, D. Graham, N.M. Tsankova, C.A. Bolanos, M. Rios, L.M. Monteggia, D.W. Self, and E.J. Nestler, *Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress*. Science, 2006. **311**(5762): p. 864-8.
- 20. Warren, B.L., V.F. Vialou, S.D. Iniguez, L.F. Alcantara, K.N. Wright, J. Feng, P.J. Kennedy, Q. Laplant, L. Shen, E.J. Nestler, and C.A. Bolanos-Guzman, *Neurobiological sequelae of witnessing stressful events in adult mice*. Biol Psychiatry, 2013. **73**(1): p. 7-14.

- Ferraro, T.N., G.T. Golden, G.G. Smith, J.F. Martin, C.L. Schwebel, G.A. Doyle, R.J. Buono, and W.H. Berrettini, *Confirmation of a major QTL influencing oral morphine intake in C57 and DBA mice using reciprocal congenic strains*. Neuropsychopharmacology, 2005. **30**(4): p. 742-6.
- 22. Belknap, J.K., J.C. Crabbe, J. Riggan, and L.A. O'Toole, *Voluntary consumption of morphine in 15 inbred mouse strains*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1993. **112**(2-3): p. 352-8.
- Forgie, M.L., B.L. Beyerstein, and B.K. Alexander, *Contributions of taste factors and gender to opioid preference in C57BL and DBA mice*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 1988.
  95(2): p. 237-44.
- 24. Sial, O.K., B.L. Warren, L.F. Alcantara, E.M. Parise, and C.A. Bolanos-Guzman, *Vicarious social defeat stress: Bridging the gap between physical and emotional stress.* J Neurosci Methods, 2016. **258**: p. 94-103.
- 25. Guertin, D.A., D.M. Stevens, C.C. Thoreen, A.A. Burds, N.Y. Kalaany, J. Moffat, M. Brown, K.J. Fitzgerald, and D.M. Sabatini, *Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1*. Dev Cell, 2006. **11**(6): p. 859-71.
- 26. Jacinto, E., V. Facchinetti, D. Liu, N. Soto, S. Wei, S.Y. Jung, Q. Huang, J. Qin, and B. Su, *SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity.* Cell, 2006. **127**(1): p. 125-37.
- 27. Sei, Y., R. Ren-Patterson, Z. Li, E.M. Tunbridge, M.F. Egan, B.S. Kolachana, and D.R. Weinberger, *Neuregulin1-induced cell migration is impaired in schizophrenia: association with neuregulin1 and catechol-o-methyltransferase gene polymorphisms*. Mol Psychiatry, 2007. **12**(10): p. 946-57.
- 28. Keri, S., I. Seres, O. Kelemen, and G. Benedek, *The relationship among neuregulin 1-stimulated phosphorylation of AKT, psychosis proneness, and habituation of arousal in nonclinical individuals.* Schizophr Bull, 2011. **37**(1): p. 141-7.
- 29. Foster, K.G. and D.C. Fingar, *Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR): conducting the cellular signaling symphony*. J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(19): p. 14071-7.
- 30. Kabbaj, M., D.P. Devine, V.R. Savage, and H. Akil, *Neurobiological correlates of individual differences in novelty-seeking behavior in the rat: differential expression of stress-related molecules.* J Neurosci, 2000. **20**(18): p. 6983-8.
- 31. Carreira, M.B., R. Cossio, and G.B. Britton, *Individual and sex differences in high and low responder phenotypes*. Behav Processes, 2017. **136**: p. 20-27.
- 32. Harro, J., *Inter-individual differences in neurobiology as vulnerability factors for affective disorders: implications for psychopharmacology.* Pharmacol Ther, 2010. **125**(3): p. 402-22.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# TORC2 Does Not Regulate Cytoskeletal Changes in the VTA Through Rac1-mediated Signaling

Sophia Kaska, Rebecca Brunk, Megan Kechner, Michelle S. Mazei-Robison.

(In preparation for submission.)

#### Abstract

Although previous work has demonstrated a role for the mammalian/mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2 (TORC2) in controlling ventral tegmental area (VTA) DA neuron soma size after chronic morphine administration, the downstream mechanism by which TORC2 modulates this morphology change, such as reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton, remains unknown. In addition, while the connection between TORC2 signaling and cytoskeletal remodeling has been investigated in brain regions such as the hippocampus and cerebellum, it has not yet been investigated in the VTA. Given the fact that the activity of the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin cytoskeletal pathway is modulated by TORC2 signaling in the hippocampus, we investigated activity of this same pathway in the VTA following chronic morphine administration. We also utilized viral vectors and Cre-Lox technology to decrease VTA TORC2 signaling via knock-out of the TORC2 constituent protein Rictor, to determine if activity of Rac1 and its downstream effectors is impacted by TORC2 KO. Biochemical analysis of VTA tissue revealed that the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin signaling is not altered by chronic morphine exposure. Additionally, in contrast to the hippocampus, decreased TORC2 signaling does not alter Rac1-PAK-Cofilin signaling in the VTA. Contrary to our hypothesis, this suggests that the TORC2dependent decrease in VTA DA soma size induced by morphine is not due to changes in Rac1related signaling but is mediated by other cytoskeletal signaling pathways. Overall, this work highlights the diversity in signaling responses between brain regions and the need for further characterization of TORC2 targets in the VTA.

#### Introduction

The ventral tegmental area (VTA) is a critical component of the mesolimbic dopamine pathway that mediates opiate reward. Specifically, the soma size of VTA dopamine (DA) neurons decreases in response to chronic morphine treatment [1-3]. This decrease in size correlates to a decrease in morphine reward [2, 3]. The changes in morphology are dependent upon brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), as infusion of BDNF into the VTA of rats rescues the soma size change induced by chronic morphine treatment [1]. More recent work has demonstrated that IRS2-AKT signaling modulates this change in soma size [2] downstream of BDNF. More recently, mammalian/mechanistic Target of Rapamycin Complex 2 (TORC2), a protein complex upstream of AKT, has been shown to mediate VTA DA neuron soma size and morphine reward [3].

TORC2 is a protein complex that consists of TOR, a serine/threonine kinase. TOR associates with Protor, Deptor, LST8, SIN1 [4] and is typically characterized by its association with rapamycin-insensitive companion of TOR (Rictor) [5]. Functionally, TORC2 serves to phosphorylate members of the AGC family of kinases, such as Serum- and glucocorticoidinducible protein kinase (SGK1) at Ser422, Protein kinase C (PKC) at Ser657, and AKT at Ser473. Phosphorylation of these targets leads to changes in actin cytoskeleton dynamics [4] and turnover in both yeast [6, 7] and mammalian cells [8]. Importantly we know that altering TORC2 signaling modulates behaviors such as morphine reward. Increasing TORC2 signaling in the VTA increases morphine reward as measured by conditioned place preference (CPP). Conversely, decreasing TORC2 signaling in the VTA decreases morphine CPP [3]. Overall, the change in VTA DA neuron morphology affects behavior and demonstrates the need to investigate TORC2-mediated signaling in the VTA. While there are no pharmacological inhibitors that specifically target TORC2, viral [3] and genetic [9-13] approaches can be used to control TORC2 signaling. Notably, deletion of the TORC2 constituent protein Rictor eliminates TORC2 catalytic activity. While deletion of Rictor is embryonically lethal [14], Cre-Lox approaches have been used to conditionally delete Rictor expression allowing control of TORC2 signaling in adult mice. In the brain, deletion of Rictor decreases overall brain weight and size, decreases pyramidal neuron soma size in the hippocampus, and also reduces Purkinje neuron soma size and dendrite length [12]. Further investigation in the hippocampus reveals that TORC2 also controls dendritic spine morphology, as deletion of Rictor decreases spine density of CA1 pyramidal neurons [13]. Specifically in the reward pathway, TORC2 has also been demonstrated to regulate VTA DA neuron soma size [3]. Increasing TORC2 signaling rescues chronic morphine-induced reduction of VTA DA neuron soma size [3], emphasizing TORC2's role in modulating the actin cytoskeleton. Little is known specifically about how TORC2 regulates these morphological changes in the VTA.

The actin cytoskeleton is a dynamic system that provides shape and stability within a cell and rapidly responds to physiological stimuli such as vascular distress [15] and metastasis [16]. Additionally, cytoskeletal reorganization is critical for memory formation and learning [13]. This process requires a number of proteins to control actin turnover. Investigation of downstream signaling of TORC2 in the hippocampus revealed the involvement of Rac1, a member of the Rho family of GTPases. Rac1 controls the phosphorylation of p21-activated kinase (PAK) and cofilin, which ultimately controls changes in dendritic spine density [13]. GTPases are controlled by two main types of proteins, GTPase-activating protein (GAP) and guanine exchange factor protein (GEF) [17]. More specifically, co-immunoprecipitation revealed that TORC2 interacts with Tiam1, a guanine exchange factor (GEF), through Rictor, to potentially direct changes in
the actin cytoskeleton [13]. As a GEF, Tiam1 functions to exchange GDP to GTP for Rac1, which activates Rac1 [18].

Changes in Rac1-dependent dendritic spine morphology have also been observed in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) in response to stimuli such as cocaine and stress. Rac1 GTPase activity was decreased after repeated cocaine treatment and importantly, viral-mediated control of Rac1 led to changes in dendritic spine morphology in the NAc [19]. Chronic social defeat stress also promotes changes in dendritic spine remodeling, and viral overexpression of constitutively active Rac1 decreases stubby spine density in the NAc of susceptible mice. Overall, work in other brain regions highlight the critical role of Rac1 in altering the actin cytoskeleton and thus, both expression level and activity of Rac1 can be investigated when examining changes in actin turnover.

Given the established relationships between TORC2, morphine reward, and VTA DA neuron soma size changes [3], and TORC2 and the cytoskeleton in the brain [13], this paper seeks to address two critical knowledge gaps regarding the lack of understanding of TORC2 signaling in the VTA. First, we test the hypothesis that *chronic morphine, which decreases TORC2 signaling, alters Rac1 signaling in the VTA*. Secondly, we will determine whether *altering TORC2 signaling in the VTA is sufficient to alter Rac1 signaling*. More specifically, we hypothesize that *decreasing VTA TORC2 signaling will decrease phosphorylation of cytoskeletal proteins through Rac1*. Through these studies, we hope to further our knowledge on TORC2mediated cytoskeletal changes in the VTA and how TORC2 is functioning to mediate changes in soma size in response to morphine.

### **Materials and Methods**

### Mice

All mice were housed on a 12 hr light/dark cycle at 22-25° C with food and water available *ad libitum*. Adult male and female mice (8-10 weeks) were used for surgeries and tissue collection. Developmental homozygous floxed Rictor mice were generated as previously described [3, 9, 14]. Briefly, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH-Cre) mice (Jackson Laboratories, 008601) were initially crossed with floxed-Rictor mice to knock-out Rictor. The floxed-Rictor, Cre negative mice were then bred together to generate homozygous floxed Rictor, Cre negative mice for surgery. Genotypes were validated at 21-28 days using standard procedures and previously published PCR conditions [20]. Adult (8 weeks old) male C57BL/6J (Jackson Laboratories) mice were used for chronic morphine surgeries. All procedures were approved by the Michigan State University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and adhere to the NIH's Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

# Morphine

Subcutaneous morphine pellets were implanted in mice for chronic treatment of morphine in order to induce morphological and biochemical changes that have been previously established [1-3]. Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and a small incision was made for subcutaneous implantation of either a morphine (25 mg) or sham pellet. Mice received a pellet on day one and a second pellet on day 3, mice were then sacrificed on day 5, as previously described [3]. Morphine and sham pellets were generously supplied by the NIDA Drug Supply Program.

### Viral-mediated gene transfer

Targeted surgery for VTA infusion was completed as previously described [3, 20]. Briefly, mice were anesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (100 mg/kg) and underwent stereotaxic surgery. Bilateral infusions (0.5  $\mu$ l) of AAV-Cre or AAV-Cre-GFP (UNC Vector Core) were injected into homozygous floxed Rictor mice at the following coordinates to target the VTA: from bregma: -3.2 mm AP, +1.0 mm ML, and -4.6 mm DV, 7° angle. Mice were given at least 14 days to recover from surgery before VTA tissue was collected.

## Western blot

VTA tissue was microdissected as described [3]. Briefly, unanesthetized mice were cervically dislocated and decapitated. Brains were removed and placed in cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Brains were sectioned using a 1 mm brain matrix and VTA was microdisseted using a 14gauge punch. VTA tissue was then frozen immediately on dry ice and then transferred to -80 °C until processing. VTA tissue was processed in RIPA buffer (10 mM Trizma base, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 1% Na Deoxycholate, pH 7.4) containing protease inhibitor cocktail I (Sigma) and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails I and II (Sigma). For Western blot analysis, 20 ug protein per sample was run on 4-15% gradient gels (Biorad) for electrophoresis. Proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (Millipore), blocked in 5% nonfat dry milk in PBS containing 1% Tween, and probed with the primary antibodies listed. Secondary antibodies were used at 1:40000 and are also listed in the table. Immunoblots were developed using chemiluminescence (Thermo Scientific) and images were obtained using autoradiography film or Omega Lum G Imaging System (Aplegen). Image J was used to perform densitometry for quantification of expression and all protein levels were normalized to GAPDH expression.

Antibody	Company	Product Number	Dilution
Rictor	Cell Signaling	2114	1:1000-2000
рАКТ	Cell Signaling	9271	1:1000
AKT	Cell Signaling	9272	1:5000
рРКС	Cell Signaling	9375	1:1000
РКС	Cell Signaling	2056	1:1000
pNDRG	Cell Signaling	3217	1:3000
NDRG	Cell Signaling	5667	1:2000
Rac1	Cytoskeleton	ARC03	1:500
рРАК	Cell Signaling	2605	1:1000-3000
РАК	Cell Signaling	2602	1:1000
pCofilin	Cell Signaling	3311	1:1000
Cofilin	Cell Signaling	5175	1:10000
GAPDH	Cell Signaling	2118	1:10000- 20000
ТН	Sigma	T1299	1:2000-3000
GFP	Life Technologies	A11122	1:3000
HRP Goat Anti- Rabbit IgG Antibody	Vector Laboratories	PI-1000	1:40000
HRP Horse Anti- Mouse IgG Antibody	Vector Laboratories	PI-2000	1:40000

 Table 1: List of antibodies used, product information, and usage information.

# Rac1 GTPase Assay

The Rac1 GTPase assay was completed following the vendor protocol (New England Biosciences; Cat. No. 80501). Briefly, samples were sonicated in the provided assay/lysis buffer containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Samples underwent centrifugation at 4° C for 15 min. at 20000g. Supernatant was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube. Anti-active Rac monoclonal antibody (from kit) and agarose beads (from kit) were added for incubation at 4°C for 1 hour. Beads were pelleted with centrifugation and washed with assay/lysis buffer. Bead pellet was resuspended in 2x SDS-PAGE sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. Samples underwent centrifugation prior to gel electrophoresis for Western blot analysis (protocol listed above.)

## **Statistics**

All values are reported as mean +/- SEM. GraphPad Prism was used to calculate unpaired t-tests, which were performed in GTPase assay and for each protein in Western blot analysis. Significance is defined as \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.001.

## Results

### Chronic morphine does not alter Rac1 signaling in the VTA

We know that chronic morphine treatment decreases the phosphorylation of TORC2 targets [3]. We also know that when Rictor expression is decreased, which decreases TORC2 signaling, the cytoskeleton is altered [13]. Given this information, we sought to investigate the molecular changes that occur to the cytoskeleton in response to chronic morphine. We microdissected VTA from mice following subcutaneous implantation of morphine or sham control pellets, a well-established procedure that produces dependence and changes in VTA biochemical signaling and cellular morphology.

The change in VTA DA neuron morphology after exposure to chronic morphine suggests rapid actin turnover in order to respond to the external stimulus. Additionally, given that TORC2 has been observed to mediate cytoskeletal changes in yeast and mammalian cells, and that TORC2 specifically modulates spine morphology in mouse hippocampus through Rac1, we wanted to determine if TORC2 similarly modulates the cytoskeleton in the VTA through Rac1. Thus, we first examined the downstream targets in the Rac1 pathway. No significant changes in Rac1 expression, nor phosphorylation of its downstream targets PAK and Cofilin, were observed via western blot analyses of VTA samples from sham and morphine treated (Figure 12).

In order to confirm that morphine-induced biochemical changes were detectable in our sample set, we next examined phospho-NDRG, as levels of VTA phospho-NDRG are robustly increased by chronic morphine administration [21]. In agreeance with the aforementioned study, our chronic morphine treated samples displayed a significant increase in pNDRG expression



**Figure 12: Evaluation of Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway proteins in the VTA after chronic morphine treatment.** a) There were no significant changes in protein expression between sham and morphine treated animals. n=11-12 per group. b) Representative Western blot images.

(sham= 100.0 +/- 17.7, morphine = 262.2 +/-36.8, Figure 13a), indicating that our morphine administration was sufficient to reproduce known signaling changes, and that our lack of Rac1 signaling changes was not due to issues with drug delivery. We also examined phosphorylation of known TORC2 targets in the AGC family of kinases. There was not a significant change in phosphorylation of AKT (sham = 100.0 +/- 4.9, morphine = 96.1 +/- 4.1, n=12 per group) or PKC (sham = 100.0 +/- 11.1, morphine = 105.1 +/- 8.1, n= 12 per group) between sham and morphine treated mice (Figure 13a). In contrast to the reported changes in phospho-NDRG which are robust (200 - 300%), changes in phospho-AKT are more modest, with ~20-25% decrease reported in both mice and rats [2, 3]. Thus, our inability to detect a significant change could be due in part to our lower sample size in this study. We also investigated the Rictor expression levels in the VTA. Chronic morphine treatment did not alter Rictor expression levels (sham = 100.0 +/- 11.6, morphine = 114.3 +/- 7.4, n=12 per group) in the VTA (Figure 13a) consistent with previous findings.

# Chronic morphine does not alter Rac1 activity in the VTA

Although we did not detect changes in the total level of Rac1, this did not exclude the possibility that Rac1 activity could be altered. As a GTPase, Rac1's activity can be controlled by the availability of GTP and rate of exchange of GDP to GTP. Thus, we used a Rac1 GTPase assay to assess Rac1 activity after chronic morphine treatment. This assay utilizes a monoclonal antibody to recognize Rac1 only when it is in its "active" state, which is when Rac1 is bound to GTP. Immunoprecipitation followed by immunoblotting was used to examine the amount of Rac1-GTP obtained from the sham and morphine VTA samples. Results from the Western blot analysis do not demonstrate a change in Rac1 activity after morphine treatment (Figure 14, sham = 100.0 + 13.5, morphine = 96.6 + 8.6, n=9 per group).



**Figure 13: Evaluation of TORC2-related proteins in the VTA after chronic morphine treatment.** a) There were no significant changes in Rictor expression or TORC2 targets such as pAKT and pPKC following morphine treatment. A significant increase in pNDRG was observed following morphine treatment. n=12 per group. \*p<0.001, unpaired Student's t-test. b) Representative Western blot images.



**Figure 14: VTA Rac1 GTPase activity was not altered by chronic morphine treatment.** a) There was no significant difference in Rac1-GTP between sham and morphine treated mice. n=9 per group. b) Representative Western blot images from GTPase assay.

### Knockdown of TORC2 signaling in the VTA does not alter Rac1 signaling

Previous work indicates that Rictor KO in the VTA is sufficient to decrease soma size, suggesting a role for TORC2 signaling in cytoskeletal remodeling [3]. Since changes in the cytoskeleton through the Rac1 pathway were observed in the dorsal hippocampus of Rictor knockout mice [13], we hypothesized that the cytoskeleton would be mediated by TORC2 in a similar fashion in the VTA. Utilizing Cre-Lox technology to decrease TORC2 signaling, we performed stereotaxic surgery to infuse either an AAV-Cre-GFP or AAV-GFP virus into the VTA of floxed Rictor mice. We then investigated changes in Rac1 signaling (Figure 15). There was not a significant change in Rac1 expression in the VTA of Rictor-KO mice (AAV-GFP =  $100.0 \pm 17.5$ , AAV-CRE-GFP = 88.2  $\pm 11.4$ , n=8-9 per group). Interestingly, a significant decrease in PAK was observed (AAV-GFP = 100.0 + - 13.5, AAV-CRE-GFP = 64.1 + - 5.1, n=9 per group, p=0.02), however a similar trend was also observed for pPAK (AAV-GFP = 100.0 +/- 14.49, AAV-CRE-GFP = 78.7 +/- 9.0, n=9 per group), resulting in no change in the ratio of pPAK/PAK (AAV-GFP = 100.0 +/- 14.5, AAV-CRE-GFP = 128.5 +/- 23.8, n=9 per group). The change in PAK is unexpected, as the literature to date has not implicated TORC2 signaling in changes in total protein expression. We next looked at Cofilin expression as it is downstream of PAK. We did not observe any changes in the phosphorylation of Cofilin (AAV-GFP = 100.0 + / -13.5, AAV-CRE-GFP =  $89.53 \pm - 8.0$ , n=8 per group), nor did we observe changes in total Cofilin expression (AAV-GFP = 100.0 +/- 7.7, AAV-CRE-GFP = 105.2 +/- 11.6, n=8-9 per group).



**Figure 15: Evaluation of Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway proteins in the VTA after viral knockdown of Rictor.** a) Rictor KO significantly decreased VTA PAK expression but did not change expression of other proteins in this pathway. n=8-9 per group \*p<0.05; unpaired Student's t-test. b) Representative Western blot images.





Lastly, we performed Western blot analysis to confirm viral knockdown of Rictor expression (Figure 16). We demonstrate a significant decrease in Rictor expression (AAV-GFP = 100.0 + - 9.9, AAV-CRE-GFP = 63.1 + - 5.4, p=0.004), demonstrating successful targeting of the AAV viruses and KO of Rictor. We proceeded to confirm changes in downstream signaling of TORC2's known targets (Figure 16). As expected, a significant decrease in pAKT was observed in AAV-Cre samples (AAV-GFP = 100.0 + - 9.7, AAV-CRE-GFP = 71.2 + - 3.3, n=8-9 per group), as well as a non-significant trend toward decreased pPKC (AAV-GFP = 100.0 + - 6.9, AAV-CRE-GFP = 87.3 + - 3.8, n=9 per group).

#### **Overexpression of HSV-Rictor in the VTA**

We know from both experiments in cell culture and also *in vivo*, that deletion of Rictor alters actin cytoskeleton signaling. What remains to be explored is whether increasing TORC2 signaling via Rictor overexpression can also alter the cytoskeleton-related signaling. We know that while overexpression of Rictor in the VTA will rescue the morphine-induced decreases in soma size [3], it does not alter soma size in the absence of drug treatment. Nonetheless, we wanted to increase VTA TORC2 signaling by overexpressing Rictor to determine whether it could affect Rac1 signaling. Unfortunately, we did not detect an increase in Rictor protein in HSV-Rictor-GFP mice (data not shown), despite a 249-fold increase in Rictor mRNA via qPCR analysis in separate cohort of mice that received infusion of the same batch of virus. The attempt to assess targeting of these viruses was assessed through Western blot analysis, but was not successful. This could possibly be due to technical Western blot issues, or it is also possible that the targeting of the virus was not accurate and/or the VTA tissue collection was not accurate. Future studies could incorporate the use of a fluorescent dissecting scope to identify the location of the virus and to determine which brain slice contains the greatest amount of virus in the region that looks most like the VTA. Lastly, it is important to note that previous studies [3] have been able to validate increases in Rictor overexpression and subsequently, increases in phosphorylation of downstream TORC2 targets such as pAKT. Thus, this may suggest that a new viral prep is necessary for the HSV-Rictor-GFP construct.

### Discussion

The goal of these studies was to determine how TORC2 regulates actin cytoskeleton remodeling in the VTA. TORC2 signaling has been demonstrated to influence basal Purkinje soma size changes in the cerebellum [12] and basal and morphine-induced adaptations in VTA DA neurons [3]. TORC2 signaling has also been shown to regulate dendritic spine morphology in the hippocampus [13], suggesting TORC2 signaling is involved in multiple forms of structural plasticity. Importantly, this TORC2 effect in the hippocampus was dependent on changes in Rac1 signaling and Rac1 has also been shown to regulate dendritic spine morphology in the NAc in response to cocaine [19] and stress [22], indicative of the importance of Rac1 signaling in the reward circuit. Thus, we hypothesized that VTA TORC2 modulates the actin cytoskeleton through the Rac1 pathway and VTA Rictor KO would decrease Rac1 signaling. Given the decrease VTA TORC2 signaling in chronic morphine treated rodents [1-3] that is responsible for the decrease in VTA DA soma size, we wanted to determine if the actin cytoskeleton is altered in chronic morphine treatment through decreased VTA TORC2 signaling through the Rac1 pathway.

We determined that morphine does not regulate activity of the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway in the VTA, as there were no changes in expression of Rac1, nor were there changes in the phosphorylation of PAK and Cofilin. This suggests that alterations in the actin cytoskeleton in response to morphine are not driven via Rac1 signaling. While morphine decreases TORC2 activity in the VTA, we observed no changes in Rac1 signaling. This is in contrast to data from the hippocampus, where decreased TORC2 resulted in a decrease or Rac1 GTPase activity [13]. Thus, this raises the question of how morphine can alter TORC2 signaling and also, how it might alter Rac1 signaling. Additionally, TORC2-mediated modulation of Rac1 signaling can be

investigated by looking at the role of Tiam1. A stimulus, such as repeat administration of cocaine, decreased Tiam1 expression in the NAc, which correlates with decreased Rac1 GTPase activity [19]. Similarly, cocaine self-administration in mice also significantly decreases Tiam1 mRNA and protein expression in the nucleus accumbens [23]. Given the effect of cocaine on Tiam1 expression, the effect of morphine on Tiam1 expression and how that regulates TORC2-mediated Rac1 GTPase activity, or the activity of other GTPases, can also be investigated.

In parallel to the hippocampus, we also wanted to determine whether TORC2 is directly coupled to Rac1 signaling in the VTA. In our investigation, we decreased the expression of Rictor, a constituent protein of the TORC2 complex, by injecting AAV-Cre into the VTA of floxed Rictor mice. While we saw a significant decrease in PAK expression, when pPAK was normalized to PAK, there was significant difference between groups. A change in total PAK was not expected, especially when no difference in the phosphorylated version of PAK was observed. It could be possible that different isoforms of PAK are regulated differently by TORC2. Protein expression or phosphorylation of Rac1 or Cofilin in the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway was not altered, suggesting that viral deletion of Rictor to decrease TORC2 signaling may not be sufficient to affect the Rac1 pathway. One possibility for this lack of an effect could be due to the inability of AAV-Cre to sufficiently decrease TORC2 signaling. For example, studies in the hippocampus used a developmental Rictor knockout [13], which likely affects a greater percentage of cells containing Rictor compared to a viral-mediated knockout model. Thus, future work using a developmental VTA Rictor knockout, such as the aforementioned TH-Rictor-KO model [20], would be informative to determine more conclusively whether Rictor deletion is incapable of altering the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin signaling in the VTA. In addition, AAV-Cre is not cell-type specific, thus Rictor KO should occur in infected DA, GABA, and glutamatergic

neurons. If alteration of the cytoskeleton through TORC2 is cell-type specific, further investigations are necessary to tease apart the potential differences in cytoskeletal remodeling. Lastly, while there were no changes in protein expression or phosphorylation, we cannot exclude the possibility that Rac1 activity is altered following VTA Rictor KO. Investigation of Rac1 activity, via GTPase assay, after knockout of Rictor signaling, both AAV-mediated and TH-Cre mediated will yield insight into the regulation of the actin cytoskeleton.

This evidence demonstrates that the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway is not regulated through TORC2 in the VTA. However, this does not eliminate a role for TORC2 itself in mediating cytoskeletal signaling. Thus far, several studies have implicated a role for BDNF signaling in mediating VTA DA neuron soma size [1] as well as the role of the IRS2-AKT pathway [2]. Given that AKT is only one member of the AGC family of kinases that TORC2 phosphorylates, other kinases within that family can be investigated. For example, effects observed in Purkinje cells identified myristolyated alanine-rich protein kinase C substrate (MARCKS) and growth-associated protein-43 (GAP-43) as two proteins involved in dendritic branching and axon growth, respectively, that had significant decreases in phosphorylation as a result of Rictor knockout [12]. Thus, future investigations for novel VTA TORC2 targets should include MARCKS and GAP-43.

Collectively, these data suggest that VTA TORC2 does not mediate cytoskeletal changes through the Rac1 pathway, both basally and in response to morphine. Future identification of pathways involved in TORC2's regulation of the actin cytoskeleton will be critical for understanding cytoskeletal remodeling in the VTA and in understanding the neuroadaptations that occur in response to chronic morphine treatment for the treatment of addiction and neuropsychiatric diseases.

# Acknowledgements, Funding, and Disclosure

We would like to thank Ken Moon for excellent technical assistance. This work was funded by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (R01 DA039895 and R03 DA037426, MMR) and graduate fellowships from the PhRMA foundation and the National Institute of General Medical Sciences (T32 GM092715, SK). We would also like to thank the NIDA Drug Supply Program for generously providing morphine. Finally, we would like to thank Dr. Rachael Neve at the MIT Viral Vector Core for production of the HSV constructs. REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. Sklair-Tavron, L., W.X. Shi, S.B. Lane, H.W. Harris, B.S. Bunney, and E.J. Nestler, *Chronic morphine induces visible changes in the morphology of mesolimbic dopamine neurons*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(20): p. 11202-7.
- 2. Russo, S.J., C.A. Bolanos, D.E. Theobald, N.A. DeCarolis, W. Renthal, A. Kumar, C.A. Winstanley, N.E. Renthal, M.D. Wiley, D.W. Self, D.S. Russell, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, and E.J. Nestler, *IRS2-Akt pathway in midbrain dopamine neurons regulates behavioral and cellular responses to opiates*. Nat Neurosci, 2007. **10**(1): p. 93-9.
- 3. Mazei-Robison, M.S., J.W. Koo, A.K. Friedman, C.S. Lansink, A.J. Robison, M. Vinish, V. Krishnan, S. Kim, M.A. Siuta, A. Galli, K.D. Niswender, R. Appasani, M.C. Horvath, R.L. Neve, P.F. Worley, S.H. Snyder, Y.L. Hurd, J.F. Cheer, M.H. Han, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Role for mTOR signaling and neuronal activity in morphine-induced adaptations in ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons.* Neuron, 2011. **72**(6): p. 977-90.
- 4. Foster, K.G. and D.C. Fingar, *Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR): conducting the cellular signaling symphony*. J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(19): p. 14071-7.
- 5. Sarbassov, D.D., S.M. Ali, D.H. Kim, D.A. Guertin, R.R. Latek, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, and D.M. Sabatini, *Rictor, a novel binding partner of mTOR, defines a rapamycin-insensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton.* Curr Biol, 2004. **14**(14): p. 1296-302.
- 6. Heitman, J., N.R. Movva, and M.N. Hall, *Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast*. Science, 1991. **253**(5022): p. 905-9.
- 7. Loewith, R., E. Jacinto, S. Wullschleger, A. Lorberg, J.L. Crespo, D. Bonenfant, W. Oppliger, P. Jenoe, and M.N. Hall, *Two TOR complexes, only one of which is rapamycin sensitive, have distinct roles in cell growth control.* Mol Cell, 2002. **10**(3): p. 457-68.
- 8. Jacinto, E., R. Loewith, A. Schmidt, S. Lin, M.A. Ruegg, A. Hall, and M.N. Hall, *Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive*. Nat Cell Biol, 2004. **6**(11): p. 1122-8.
- Siuta, M.A., S.D. Robertson, H. Kocalis, C. Saunders, P.J. Gresch, V. Khatri, C. Shiota, J.P. Kennedy, C.W. Lindsley, L.C. Daws, D.B. Polley, J. Veenstra-Vanderweele, G.D. Stanwood, M.A. Magnuson, K.D. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Dysregulation of the norepinephrine transporter sustains cortical hypodopaminergia and schizophrenia-like behaviors in neuronal rictor null mice*. PLoS Biol, 2010. 8(6): p. e1000393.

- Dadalko, O.I., K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Impaired mTORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic neurons exaggerates high fat diet-induced hyperphagia*. Heliyon, 2015. 1(1): p. e00025.
- 11. Dadalko, O.I., M. Siuta, A. Poe, K. Erreger, H.J. Matthies, K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *mTORC2/rictor signaling disrupts dopamine-dependent behaviors via defects in striatal dopamine neurotransmission.* J Neurosci, 2015. **35**(23): p. 8843-54.
- Thomanetz, V., N. Angliker, D. Cloetta, R.M. Lustenberger, M. Schweighauser, F. Oliveri, N. Suzuki, and M.A. Ruegg, *Ablation of the mTORC2 component rictor in brain or Purkinje cells affects size and neuron morphology*. J Cell Biol, 2013. 201(2): p. 293-308.
- 13. Huang, W., P.J. Zhu, S. Zhang, H. Zhou, L. Stoica, M. Galiano, K. Krnjevic, G. Roman, and M. Costa-Mattioli, *mTORC2 controls actin polymerization required for consolidation of long-term memory*. Nat Neurosci, 2013. **16**(4): p. 441-8.
- 14. Shiota, C., J.T. Woo, J. Lindner, K.D. Shelton, and M.A. Magnuson, *Multiallelic disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability*. Dev Cell, 2006. **11**(4): p. 583-9.
- 15. Pandey, D., P. Goyal, S. Dwivedi, and W. Siess, *Unraveling a novel Rac1-mediated* signaling pathway that regulates cofilin dephosphorylation and secretion in thrombin-stimulated platelets. Blood, 2009. **114**(2): p. 415-24.
- 16. Gulhati, P., K.A. Bowen, J. Liu, P.D. Stevens, P.G. Rychahou, M. Chen, E.Y. Lee, H.L. Weiss, K.L. O'Connor, T. Gao, and B.M. Evers, *mTORC1 and mTORC2 regulate EMT*, *motility, and metastasis of colorectal cancer via RhoA and Rac1 signaling pathways*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(9): p. 3246-56.
- 17. Sit, S.T. and E. Manser, *Rho GTPases and their role in organizing the actin cytoskeleton.* J Cell Sci, 2011. **124**(Pt 5): p. 679-83.
- 18. Tolias, K.F., J.B. Bikoff, A. Burette, S. Paradis, D. Harrar, S. Tavazoie, R.J. Weinberg, and M.E. Greenberg, *The Rac1-GEF Tiam1 couples the NMDA receptor to the activitydependent development of dendritic arbors and spines.* Neuron, 2005. **45**(4): p. 525-38.
- Dietz, D.M., H. Sun, M.K. Lobo, M.E. Cahill, B. Chadwick, V. Gao, J.W. Koo, M.S. Mazei-Robison, C. Dias, I. Maze, D. Damez-Werno, K.C. Dietz, K.N. Scobie, D. Ferguson, D. Christoffel, Y. Ohnishi, G.E. Hodes, Y. Zheng, R.L. Neve, K.M. Hahn, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Rac1 is essential in cocaine-induced structural plasticity of nucleus accumbens neurons*. Nat Neurosci, 2012. 15(6): p. 891-6.
- 20. Kaska, S., R. Brunk, V. Bali, M. Kechner, and M.S. Mazei-Robison, *Deletion of Rictor in catecholaminergic neurons alters locomotor activity and ingestive behavior*. Neuropharmacology, 2017. **117**: p. 158-170.

- 21. Heller, E.A., S. Kaska, B. Fallon, D. Ferguson, P.J. Kennedy, R.L. Neve, E.J. Nestler, and M.S. Mazei-Robison, *Morphine and cocaine increase serum- and glucocorticoid-inducible kinase 1 activity in the ventral tegmental area.* J Neurochem, 2015. **132**(2): p. 243-53.
- Golden, S.A., D.J. Christoffel, M. Heshmati, G.E. Hodes, J. Magida, K. Davis, M.E. Cahill, C. Dias, E. Ribeiro, J.L. Ables, P.J. Kennedy, A.J. Robison, J. Gonzalez-Maeso, R.L. Neve, G. Turecki, S. Ghose, C.A. Tamminga, and S.J. Russo, *Epigenetic regulation of RAC1 induces synaptic remodeling in stress disorders and depression*. Nat Med, 2013. 19(3): p. 337-44.
- 23. Chandra, R., J.D. Lenz, A.M. Gancarz, D. Chaudhury, G.L. Schroeder, M.H. Han, J.F. Cheer, D.M. Dietz, and M.K. Lobo, *Optogenetic inhibition of D1R containing nucleus accumbens neurons alters cocaine-mediated regulation of Tiam1*. Front Mol Neurosci, 2013. **6**: p. 13.

# **CHAPTER 4**

Significance, Summary, and Future Directions

# Significance of dissertation

While research on depression and opiate addiction have been ongoing for decades and significant contributions have been made to understand the physiological and behavioral changes that occur, there still remain critical gaps in knowledge that need to be addressed in order to provide effective therapies for patients diagnosed with these diseases. This dissertation investigated the molecular mechanisms by which susceptibility to CSDS and stress-induced morphine reward are potentially mediated by TORC2 in the VTA, and whether previously observed morphological changes in the VTA are modulated by TORC2 through a Rac1dependent cytoskeletal pathway. At a broader level, work in this dissertation contributed novel information to the field on the role of VTA TORC2 in mediating consummatory behaviors. Furthermore, the work in this dissertation also furthered investigation of downstream signaling mechanisms of TORC2 in mediating actin cytoskeleton changes in a critical part of the reward pathway. While VTA TORC2 was not implicated in mediating susceptibility to chronic social defeat stress, nor was there a change in stress-induced morphine reward measured by the twobottle choice paradigm, we did identify a novel role for VTA TORC2 signaling in mediating consummatory behaviors of both water and rewarding substances such as morphine and sucrose (Figure 17). Given that VTA TORC2 signaling has been directly linked to morphine-induced alterations in structural plasticity, the mechanisms by which actin cytoskeleton remodeling occurs remains of interest. Despite the literature that has suggested that TORC2-mediated morphological changes could be dependent on Rac1 signaling, we demonstrated that cytoskeletal changes in the VTA are not modulated through Rac1. Excitingly, this paves the way for novel cytoskeletal protein pathways to be explored with respect to TORC2 signaling which will be discussed below. Overall, novel insight was gained from this dissertation on the important role of TORC2 in the VTA on the rewarding effects of opiates such as morphine, but does not seem to affect the opposite valence of decreasing drug reward or in depression, despite both stimuli inducing a similar overall effect on VTA DA output. Additionally, work presented in this dissertation suggests that the downstream signaling of TORC2 may differ between brain regions.

# **Summary of findings**

## Susceptibility to CSDS and stress-induced morphine reward

Previous work demonstrated a role for AKT in mediating susceptibility to CSDS. Specifically, susceptible mice had a decrease in VTA pAKT, and overexpression of a constitutively active AKT in the VTA of susceptible mice rescued social avoidance [1]. Meanwhile, overexpression of a dominant negative AKT increased susceptibility to microdefeat, a modified version of CSDS used to identify critical mediators of susceptibility to stress [1]. Given this information on bi-directional signaling of AKT, we tested the hypothesis that TORC2, which is known to phosphorylate AKT at S473, mediates susceptibility to CSDS. Two models of Rictor knockouts were used for these studies. First, we used a developmental knockout in which Rictor is deleted from all TH-expressing cells in the VTA, but also deletes Rictor in other THcontaining cells in the body as well. To target the VTA more specifically, we injected AAV-Cre into the VTA of floxed Rictor mice, which addresses the aforementioned caveats of using a developmental knockout and also of knocking-out Rictor in other cells. Unfortunately, the caveat with the AAV knockout model is that Rictor is knocked-out in multiple cell types in the VTA, like GABA neurons, instead of only targeting VTA DA neurons. Using both of these knockout models, we determined that both catecholaminergic and VTA-specific knockdown of Rictor, despite decreasing TORC2 signaling and decreasing pAKT, do not increase susceptibility to

CSDS. Importantly, one caveat that can address this finding is that in the Krishnan et al. AKT studies [1], the infection of the HSV is not limited to one neuron type. Multiple neuron types, such as the DA and GABA cells, can both be affected. Thus, this could possibly suggest a role for TORC2-mediated AKT signaling in GABA cells. In addition, we also tested the hypothesis that increasing Rictor expression in the VTA, which increases TORC2 signaling and the phosphorylation of AKT, would rescue susceptibility to CSDS. We followed the experimental design set by Krishnan et al. [1] to overexpress HSV-Rictor into the VTA of susceptible mice. Interestingly, increasing TORC2 signaling in the VTA does not rescue susceptibility to CSDS (data not shown). While increasing TORC2 signaling would increase the phosphorylation of AKT in the VTA, it would also increase the phosphorylation of other TORC2 targets as well and thus, may have conflicting effects on mediating susceptibility to stress. Additionally, it was possible that our social defeat stress was too severe and that rescuing social interaction would not be possible. Thus, we took an alternate approach to determine if VTA TORC2 overexpression *during stress* could have a protective effect on susceptibility to CSDS. This was the case in a study investigating GSK3 signaling in the nucleus accumbens, as they found that viral-mediated alteration of GSK3 activity had to be present during their stress protocol to produce an antidepressant effect [2]. With this in mind, we tested the hypothesis that TORC2 signaling must be increased during stress to prevent a decrease in SI. To do this, we overexpressed Rictor in the VTA of C57BL/6 mice and subjected them to a compressed defeat. In a compressed defeat, mice are subjected to two physical defeats, once in the morning and once in the afternoon, for four consecutive days. This shortened defeat was used due to the short expression period of the HSV used to overexpress Rictor. Surprisingly, overexpression of TORC2 during a defeat was not sufficient to prevent a stress-induced decrease in social interaction. All together, these data

suggest that bi-directional modulation of VTA TORC2 signaling does not mediate susceptibility to CSDS.

We also wanted to determine if VTA TORC2 signaling affected morphine reward following stress. Unpublished data from our lab demonstrate that CSDS mice voluntarily consume more morphine in a two-bottle choice task than non-stressed controls, and this is true for mice exposed to both physical and emotional stress, despite differences in the magnitude of depressive-like behavior at this time point (data not shown). Given this information, we evaluated morphine reward after CSDS and found that knockdown of TORC2 signaling did not affect morphine preference. Because TORC2 phosphorylates a family of kinases and not solely AKT, this suggests that phosphorylation of a different kinase or a combination of kinases are involved with determining susceptibility to CSDS. Moreover, there could be compensatory changes in signaling in response to the increase in TORC2 signaling that could override the effect of AKT on mediating susceptibility to stress. It is also possible that TORC2 could have effects on small GTPases, such as the Rho family of GTPases (discussed in Chapter 3), that can potentially alter behavior as well. Collectively, the results of these experiments suggest that downstream targets of AKT should be investigated and that TORC2 itself would not be an optimal target for pharmaceutical treatment.

### Novel role of VTA TORC2 signaling

Unrelated to our hypothesis, we discovered a novel role for VTA TORC2 in mediating consummatory behaviors both in naïve mice and mice that underwent CSDS (Figure 17). Briefly, in stress-naïve mice, we discovered that male TH-Rictor-KO mice consumed more water, sucrose, and morphine compared to their littermate controls with no alteration in preference for

sucrose and morphine [3]. Interestingly in female TH-Rictor-KO mice, an increase in drinking was only observed with morphine without a change in preference for morphine [3]. These findings suggest that sex plays a role in the consumption of water and rewarding substances such as sucrose, which was unexpected. Interestingly, we also discovered that female TH-Rictor-KO mice do not have the increase in novelty-induced locomotor activity that has been observed in males [4]. Again, this could suggest that sex plays a role in modulating motivation to explore a novel environment or in locomotor activity itself. The VTA-Rictor-KO model also contributed novel insight into TORC2's role in modulating consummatory behavior. While there were no differences in fluid intake volume between Cre knockdowns and GFP controls, a stress-induced increase in drinking was seen in the male VTA-Rictor-KO mice after physical CSDS. This change in drinking suggests that TORC2 signaling does contribute to stress responses and can affect post-stress behaviors independently of social interaction.

Collectively, these data suggest that the VTA may be an area of interest in understanding the physiological basis of liquid consumption and future studies should consider looking at the dysregulation of VTA TORC2 in disorders such as polydipsia, in which patients have an increase in thirst.

Importantly, this work also has implications for evaluating sex differences in studies involving TORC2. In addition to looking at liquid consumption, we also briefly investigated food consumption in our TH-Rictor-KO mice. Given that the dopaminergic-rich VTA region is a key component of the reward system, Dadalko et al. investigated the role of TORC2 signaling on the consumption of high fat diet (HFD), a palatable food, in male TH-Rictor-KO mice [4]. The decrease in TORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic cells increased HFD intake within the first six days of the study when normalized to low fat diet and overall, consumption of HFD over an

eight week span was increased significantly compared to littermate controls. Because this study was only performed in males, we wanted to determine if there were any differences in HFD consumption between sexes. Thus, we performed a one week study comparing male and female TH-Rictor-KO mice on HFD. We found that when the HFD amount was normalized to body weight, there were no significant differences in consumption of HFD between male and female KO and wildtype mice. In our studies, we had evaluated baseline food consumption with standard rodent chow, while Dadalko et al. study compared their food changes to low fat diet [4], which could explain why our studies did not find a difference in consumption between KO and wildtype mice. Overall, our food consumption studies suggest that there may not be a difference in HFD consumption between KO and wildtype female mice.



# Figure 17: Novel role for VTA TORC2 in mediating consummatory behaviors.

Catecholaminergic deletion of Rictor (TH-Rictor-KO) increases drinking of water and rewarding substances, such as sucrose and morphine, both in the absence and presence of stress. VTA-specific knockdown of Rictor (VTA-Rictor-KO), on the other hand, affected consummatory behaviors only in the presence of stress.

## Modulation of actin cytoskeleton in VTA by TORC2

Neurons respond to stimuli and undergo remodeling of dendritic spines, dendritic branches, or can even change morphology through a process called structural plasticity [5, 6]. The changes in dendritic spines can then proceed to alter connectivity between neurons and alter their function [5]. Importantly, TORC2 signaling has been implicated in mediating changes in structural plasticity, but the mechanisms underlying these changes appear to differ between brain regions. Specific mechanisms for TORC2's role in cytoskeletal reorganization have been established in the hippocampus [7] and the cerebellum [8], but through two different mechanisms, highlighting the necessity to investigate TORC2 signaling in the VTA. While modulation of Rictor expression in the VTA modulates VTA DA neuron soma size [6], the cytoskeletal proteins downstream of TORC2 that are involved in mediating these changes have not been investigated specifically in the VTA. Thus, we sought to investigate VTA TORC2mediated Rac1 regulation of the actin cytoskeleton, both basally and in response to chronic morphine. Even though decreasing TORC2 signaling in the VTA using viral vectors did not alter Rac1 expression or the phosphorylation of its downstream targets, future studies will be able to rule out the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway in mediating these changes (Figure 18). Given the changes in structural plasticity observed in the cerebellum, future studies could determine if VTA TORC2 mediates these changes through PKC to alter MARCKS and GAP-43 phosphorylation (Figure 18). While it is unknown whether TORC2 alters dendritic spine morphology, it may still be interesting to investigate if VTA TORC2 modulates the actin cytoskeleton through MARCKS, as it is critical for mediating dendritic branching in rat primary hippocampal neurons [9]. Regulation of the cytoskeleton through GAP-43 may be less likely, as it usually plays a role in axonal pathfinding during development and is also known to play a role

in the development of new synapses [10]. Overall, the results of this chapter demonstrate that regulation of the cytoskeleton in the VTA through TORC2 signaling is not similar to the hippocampus, which will allow future studies to focus on other pathways.



**Figure 18: VTA TORC2 does not modulate the actin cytoskeleton through a Rac1dependent manner.** TORC2-mediated cytoskeleton remodeling pathways that were investigated in other brain regions can be explored in the VTA.

## **Future directions**

### Investigating VTA TORC2 function in consummatory behaviors

We unexpectedly discovered a novel role for VTA TORC2 in mediating consummatory behaviors, which presents an opportunity for a wide range of future studies. First, in the absence of stress, the increase in drinking volume is driven by deletion of Rictor in catecholaminergic neurons but not VTA neurons specifically. Because we did not observe changes in consummatory behavior in VTA- specific knockout mice, this suggests that TH-containing cells in other areas of the brain and/or body could be mediating these changes. Importantly, since TH is the rate-limiting enzyme for catecholamine synthesis of both dopamine and norepinephrine, these changes could be driven by TORC2 signaling in either noradrenergic or dopaminergic neurons. To determine if these changes in drinking are due to dopamine or norepinephrine, dopamine transporter (DAT)-Cre or norepinephrine transporter (NET)- Cre mice, respectively, can be crossed with the floxed Rictor line for molecular and behavioral studies. As most of these changes were detected in developmental knockout mice, additional studies could also be performed by injecting AAV-Cre into other brain regions of interest that contain TH to determine the role of TORC signaling in specific brain regions in modulating consummatory behavior.

In addition to their altered consummatory behavior, TH-Rictor-KO mice also have altered behavioral activity. Specifically, male TH-Rictor-KO mice have increased novelty-induced locomotor activity [4], but what remains unknown is whether or not their baseline locomotor activity is altered. Furthermore, the overall metabolic activity of TH-Rictor-KO animals can be investigated to determine if the increase in liquid consumption that we observed is linked to their

baseline locomotor activity. Additionally, because there is a significant increase in fluid consumption in the TH-Rictor-KO mice, future studies could investigate how their bodily fluid balance is maintained by measuring urine output through metabolic cages. This would yield critical knowledge on how catecholamines may regulate liquid intake, urine output, and overall homeostatic regulation of bodily fluids. Together, results from these studies may have clinical implications in disorders where fluid dysregulation occurs.

While VTA-Rictor-KO did not affect baseline drinking, consumption of water and sucrose increased following CSDS compared to control mice, suggesting that even though VTA TORC2 does not mediate susceptibility to CSDS, it is still involved in stress-induced consummatory behavior. Because injection of AAV-Cre-GFP into the VTA can knock-down Rictor expression in multiple cell types, future studies can determine which neurons, whether they are dopaminergic, GABAergic, or glutamatergic, are driving these changes in stress-induced consumption. In order to determine which neurons are involved, Cre-dependent CRISPR/Cas 9 viruses can be injected into the VTA of mice expressing Cre for each cell type (TH or dopamine transporter (DAT) for dopaminergic cells, vesicular GABA transporter (VGAT) for GABAergic cells, and vesicular glutamate transporter (VGLUT) for glutamatergic cells) with a guide RNA that targets Rictor for knockout. In addition, it would be interesting to see how decreasing TORC2 signaling through a decrease in Rictor affects communication between brain regions such as the lateral hypothalamus, which coordinates behavioral cues to facilitate eating and drinking, for example, to maintain proper energy balance [11]. Because physical CSDS was the only type of stress that was investigated in VTA-Rictor-KO mice, future studies can also investigate the effects of emotional stress in VTA-Rictor-KO mice. Since VTA-Rictor-KO mice only had altered drinking after exposure to stress, the hypothesis would be that emotionally
stressed VTA-Rictor-KO mice would also experience similar increases in consummatory behaviors.

Additionally, we wanted to investigate whether or not sex is a biological factor in our behavioral studies. Chapter two is the first publication that has explored sex as a biological factor in the characterization of floxed Rictor mice. The significant increase in drinking was observed in stress-naïve male TH-Rictor-KO mice but not females, and deserves additional investigation. It would be interesting to investigate if sex-related hormones are involved in TORC2-mediated consummatory behavior. For example, ovariectomies can be used to stop estrogen production [12] in order to determine if estrogen drives TORC2-mediated drinking behavior. Similarly, castration can be used to interrupt testosterone production in males. In addition, the degree or sensitivity of which floxed Rictor mice prefer rewarding substances would also be interesting to investigate, as female mice were more sensitive to morphine compared to males. In our twobottle choice assay, the morphine to quinine ratios were adjusted to yield a 70% preference in wildtype, stress-naïve mice. Our female mice had a strong preference for morphine as a 0.1 mg/mL concentration initially gave an ~80% preference. Thus, we performed a dose response experiment and determined that 0.05 mg/mL morphine was the optimal dose to obtain a 70% preference. Lastly, one limitation of the CSDS paradigm is that only male mice can be used as experimental mice. This is because the aggressors used are male retired breeders, who would attempt to mate with female experimental mice instead of physically attacking them. To overcome this technical difficulty, alternate models of stress, such as subchronic variable stress, utilize varied physical stressors to induce depressive-like symptoms in both male and female rodents [13, 14]. Other models are currently being adapted and validated in order to be able to add female cohorts to studies. In fact, vicarious social defeat stress has been optimized for

124

female mice. This allows female mice to experience stress from witnessing physical stressors and allows for direct comparison with male witnesses without risking an attack from a male aggressor [15]. Another laboratory has also been investigating methods to induce aggressive behavior in male mice such that they will physically attack female mice in order to adapt and expand physical CSDS to female mice (unpublished). As paradigms are either modified or created to incorporate female mice into CSDS studies, the stress-induced drinking studies can also be repeated for both the TH-Rictor-KO mice and the VTA-Rictor-KO mice to look at the effects of physical and emotional stress on consummatory behaviors in order to investigate and address sex as a biological factor in stress and stress-induced consummatory behavior.

## Identifying novel targets of VTA TORC2 in mediating actin cytoskeleton changes

While changes in the actin cytoskeleton are mediated by TORC2 signaling through the Rac1-PAK-Cofilin pathway in the hippocampus [7], work in this dissertation demonstrated that TORC2 does not utilize the same Rac1-mediated pathway in the VTA. This is not completely unexpected, as TORC2 was shown to mediate changes in Purkinje cells of the cerebellum through the PKC pathway by decreasing phosphorylation of MARCKS and GAP43 [8], which did suggest the possibility of VTA TORC2 mediating the cytoskeleton through a pathway unrelated to Rac1. Similar to what was investigated in the cerebellum, a potential future study could be to determine if MARCKS and/or GAP43 phosphorylation are decreased in the VTA when TORC2 signaling is decreased. Preliminary investigations from our lab suggest that the phosphorylation of MARCKS is not altered by chronic morphine, but a larger study must be conducted to be able to draw a firm conclusion.

The actin cytoskeleton consists of a complex network of proteins in which cross-talk between downstream proteins and pathways can occur. Even though our data demonstrates that VTA TORC2 signaling does not function through Rac1, there are other cytoskeletal GTPases that TORC2 may regulate. While Rac1, Rho A, and Cdc42 are the most characterized GTPases, there are a total of 18 mammalian GTPases that have been discovered so far [16] that TORC2 could be interacting with to alter the actin cytoskeleton. *In vitro* studies have identified Rap1 as a small GTPase that binds to SIN 1 [17], another constituent of TORC2, that may be of interest for investigation. Future studies would need to first determine if Rap1 is expressed in the VTA, and if so, co-immunoprecipitation studies could be completed to determine if Rap1 also binds to SIN1 in the VTA. If those interactions hold true in the VTA, future studies could then focus on downstream targets of Rap1.

Considering that there was no change in Rac1 activity in response to chronic morphine, another avenue of potential research is to investigate whether the cellular localization of TORC2 is altered by chronic morphine. To briefly recapitulate, TORC2 is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum [18] and then associates with the ribosome when active [19]. TORC2 can also be localized to membrane rafts through a scaffolding complex called synecan-4, a process shown to control endothelial cell size [20]. It would be interesting to see if chronic morphine affects the expression of syndecan-4, which would alter TORC2's ability to locate near the plasma membrane. Given the complexity of the actin cytoskeleton, multiple avenues will need be investigated in future studies to determine how VTA TORC2 regulates the actin cytoskeleton such as other AGC kinases that are downstream of TORC2 and their targets, different GTPases, or even the localization of TORC2 itself. REFERENCES

## REFERENCES

- Krishnan, V., M.H. Han, M. Mazei-Robison, S.D. Iniguez, J.L. Ables, V. Vialou, O. Berton, S. Ghose, H.E. Covington, 3rd, M.D. Wiley, R.P. Henderson, R.L. Neve, A.J. Eisch, C.A. Tamminga, S.J. Russo, C.A. Bolanos, and E.J. Nestler, *AKT signaling within the ventral tegmental area regulates cellular and behavioral responses to stressful stimuli*. Biol Psychiatry, 2008. 64(8): p. 691-700.
- 2. Wilkinson, M.B., C. Dias, J. Magida, M. Mazei-Robison, M. Lobo, P. Kennedy, D. Dietz, H. Covington, 3rd, S. Russo, R. Neve, S. Ghose, C. Tamminga, and E.J. Nestler, *A novel role of the WNT-dishevelled-GSK3beta signaling cascade in the mouse nucleus accumbens in a social defeat model of depression.* J Neurosci, 2011. **31**(25): p. 9084-92.
- 3. Kaska, S., R. Brunk, V. Bali, M. Kechner, and M.S. Mazei-Robison, *Deletion of Rictor in catecholaminergic neurons alters locomotor activity and ingestive behavior*. Neuropharmacology, 2017. **117**: p. 158-170.
- 4. Dadalko, O.I., K. Niswender, and A. Galli, *Impaired mTORC2 signaling in catecholaminergic neurons exaggerates high fat diet-induced hyperphagia*. Heliyon, 2015. **1**(1): p. e00025.
- 5. Russo, S.J., M.S. Mazei-Robison, J.L. Ables, and E.J. Nestler, *Neurotrophic factors and structural plasticity in addiction*. Neuropharmacology, 2009. **56 Suppl 1**: p. 73-82.
- Mazei-Robison, M.S., J.W. Koo, A.K. Friedman, C.S. Lansink, A.J. Robison, M. Vinish, V. Krishnan, S. Kim, M.A. Siuta, A. Galli, K.D. Niswender, R. Appasani, M.C. Horvath, R.L. Neve, P.F. Worley, S.H. Snyder, Y.L. Hurd, J.F. Cheer, M.H. Han, S.J. Russo, and E.J. Nestler, *Role for mTOR signaling and neuronal activity in morphine-induced adaptations in ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons.* Neuron, 2011. **72**(6): p. 977-90.
- 7. Huang, W., P.J. Zhu, S. Zhang, H. Zhou, L. Stoica, M. Galiano, K. Krnjevic, G. Roman, and M. Costa-Mattioli, *mTORC2 controls actin polymerization required for consolidation of long-term memory*. Nat Neurosci, 2013. **16**(4): p. 441-8.
- Thomanetz, V., N. Angliker, D. Cloetta, R.M. Lustenberger, M. Schweighauser, F. Oliveri, N. Suzuki, and M.A. Ruegg, *Ablation of the mTORC2 component rictor in brain or Purkinje cells affects size and neuron morphology*. J Cell Biol, 2013. 201(2): p. 293-308.
- 9. Li, H., G. Chen, B. Zhou, and S. Duan, *Actin filament assembly by myristoylated alaninerich C kinase substrate-phosphatidylinositol-4,5-diphosphate signaling is critical for dendrite branching.* Mol Biol Cell, 2008. **19**(11): p. 4804-13.

- 10. Benowitz, L.I. and A. Routtenberg, *GAP-43: an intrinsic determinant of neuronal development and plasticity*. Trends Neurosci, 1997. **20**(2): p. 84-91.
- 11. Brown, J.A., H.L. Woodworth, and G.M. Leinninger, *To ingest or rest? Specialized roles of lateral hypothalamic area neurons in coordinating energy balance*. Front Syst Neurosci, 2015. **9**: p. 9.
- Strom, J.O., A. Theodorsson, E. Ingberg, I.M. Isaksson, and E. Theodorsson, *Ovariectomy and 17beta-estradiol replacement in rats and mice: a visual demonstration*. J Vis Exp, 2012(64): p. e4013.
- Hodes, G.E., M.L. Pfau, I. Purushothaman, H.F. Ahn, S.A. Golden, D.J. Christoffel, J. Magida, A. Brancato, A. Takahashi, M.E. Flanigan, C. Menard, H. Aleyasin, J.W. Koo, Z.S. Lorsch, J. Feng, M. Heshmati, M. Wang, G. Turecki, R. Neve, B. Zhang, L. Shen, E.J. Nestler, and S.J. Russo, *Sex Differences in Nucleus Accumbens Transcriptome Profiles Associated with Susceptibility versus Resilience to Subchronic Variable Stress.* J Neurosci, 2015. **35**(50): p. 16362-76.
- 14. Brancato, A., D. Bregman, H.F. Ahn, M.L. Pfau, C. Menard, C. Cannizzaro, S.J. Russo, and G.E. Hodes, *Sub-chronic variable stress induces sex-specific effects on glutamatergic synapses in the nucleus accumbens*. Neuroscience, 2017. **350**: p. 180-189.
- Iñiguez, S.D., F.J. Flores-Ramirez, L.M. Riggs, J.B. Alipio, I. Garcia, M.A. Hernandez, D.O. Sanchez, M.K. Lobo, P.A. Serrano, S.H. Braren, and S.A. Castillo, *Vicarious Social Defeat Stress Induces Depression-related Outcomes in Female Mice*. Biological Psychiatry, 2017.
- 16. Hall, A., *Rho family GTPases*. Biochem Soc Trans, 2012. **40**(6): p. 1378-82.
- 17. Khanna, A., P. Lotfi, A.J. Chavan, N.M. Montano, P. Bolourani, G. Weeks, Z. Shen, S.P. Briggs, H. Pots, P.J. Van Haastert, A. Kortholt, and P.G. Charest, *The small GTPases Ras and Rap1 bind to and control TORC2 activity.* Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 25823.
- 18. Boulbes, D.R., T. Shaiken, and D. Sarbassov dos, *Endoplasmic reticulum is a main localization site of mTORC2*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2011. **413**(1): p. 46-52.
- 19. Zinzalla, V., D. Stracka, W. Oppliger, and M.N. Hall, *Activation of mTORC2 by association with the ribosome*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 757-68.
- 20. Partovian, C., R. Ju, Z.W. Zhuang, K.A. Martin, and M. Simons, *Syndecan-4 regulates* subcellular localization of mTOR Complex2 and Akt activation in a PKCalpha-dependent manner in endothelial cells. Mol Cell, 2008. **32**(1): p. 140-9.